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To provide full support to the Communications
Authority in fulfilling its vision that Hong Kong
has the world-class communications services to
meet the challenges of the information age.
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We are committed to -

- Civil Service - Being a model department that

Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations
of the community

Industry - Providing a fair regulatory
environment conducive to innovation and
business investment

Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong's position
as a pre-eminent communications

centre in the region to support economic
development

Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and
professional team and nurturing a working
environment that recognises and rewards results

performs effectively and efficiently

-

B2

VALUES

- EERBSH — RIFPIL « [EEN - SESBH
AIEME - RRRSE

- BEEW — SRNE - BEEE - BILEE -
BEIRST - 15FRFTEE

- BETR - BERET — SHEHA Bk
[OIFE ~ BRIREE ~ SRR ~ ERMK

- BIEEIE — EEHER © KFEORIE © ERRIE

Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality,
transparency, accountability, openness
Professionalism - Expertise, discipline,
credibility, ethics, commitment

Respect for the Community, Clients and Staff -

Freedom of expression, responsiveness,
understanding, efficiency, effectiveness

Foresight - A proactive attitude,
anticipation, awareness
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Message from the Director-General
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While Hong Kong was in the gradual process of economic
recovery, the growth of the communications market
continued to be robust in 2023/24. OFCA’s dedication to
facilitating the development of the communications sectors
together with industry’s enthusiasm for enhancing the
quality of their communications services are expected to
shape a more vibrant communications market which better
serves the community and businesses in Hong Kong. 4
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| am pleased to present the Trading Fund annual
report 2023/24 prepared by the Office of the
Communications Authority (OFCA). Apart
from giving an overview of the status of the
communications markets in Hong Kong, this year’s
report is rich in content which highlights the major
work accomplished by OFCA in the past year, and
our endeavours to facilitate further developments
of the communications sector in Hong Kong.

Market Overview

In the past year, the communications sector continued
to thrive and show its resilience in coping with various
challenges when the economy was in the course of
progressive recovery from the global pandemic.

Telecommunications Market

Hong Kong has 25.3 million mobile service
subscriptions, which represents a penetration rate of
328% of the population which is among the highest
in the world. The substantial increase in mobile data
usage also reflects the continuous growth of Hong
Kong’'s mobile service market despite economic
challenges. In March 2024, 217 616 Terabytes of

mobile data or 29 Gigabytes per capita were
consumed. These figures represent a year-on-year
increase of almost 30%.

Over the past year, local mobile network operators
(MNOs) have been actively expanding the fifth
generation (5G) networks. With an extensive 5G service
covering all populated districts, bustling shopping
centres and mass transit railway stations, 6.9 million
of 5G service subscribers, representing 92% of the
population, enjoy high-speed 5G services in their
daily life. The high penetration rate also unleashes the
enormous potential of 5G technology which supports
a great variety of innovative applications and brings
about new business opportunities to various sectors in
Hong Kong.

It is also encouraging to share that the household
penetration rate of Hong Kong's fixed-broadband
network stands at over 97%, among which 85% of
these households are enjoying high-speed broadband
services via optical fibre. Being the mainstay fixed
network access technology in Hong Kong, optical
fibre enables quick and reliable access to various
state-of-the-art communications services and
applications by both business and personal users.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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OFCA staff members conducting an on-site visit to the radio
base stations installed in the vicinity of a village together with
the representatives from another government department,
mobile network operators and the village.
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Broadcasting Market

There was a steady growth of Hong Kong’s
broadcasting market in 2023/24. The public was able
to enjoy more than 700 local and overseas television
programme channels in various languages through
free-to-air, pay and satellite television services
alongside 14 local radio programme channels.
With our advantageous geographic location and
well-developed communications infrastructure,
Hong Kong is a prime location for regional satellite
uplinks with nine non-domestic licensees delivering
approximately 150 satellite television programme
channels throughout the Asia-Pacific region. With
the Government’s adoption of the Open Sky Policy,
local public is able to enjoy the reception of around
500 free satellite television programme channels in
Hong Kong.

Highlights of Our Work in 2023/24

Some of the major works undertaken by OFCA in
the year of 2023/24 are highlighted in the ensuing
paragraphs:

Telecommunications Services

Further to the assignments of a total of 530 MHz of
spectrum below 6 GHz for provision of 5G services
between 2019 and 2021, there will be another
round of spectrum provision totalling 510 MHz of
spectrum through market mechanism, i.e. auctions in
2024. Among these spectrum, the Communications
Authority (CA) decided in May 2023 and March 2024
respectively to re-assign 110 MHz of spectrum in
the 850/900 MHz and 2.3 GHz bands and allocate
400 MHz of spectrum in the 6/7 GHz band for public
mobile services after relocation of the existing users
of fixed and outside broadcasting links to other

frequency bands. The spectrum in the 6/7 GHz
band may also be suitable for sixth generation
(6G) deployment, making Hong Kong a first mover
in releasing relevant frequency band for 6G
development. In addition, OFCA administratively
assigned another 1 200 MHz of spectrum in the
26/28 GHz band to MNOs for provision of 5G or
more advanced mobile services in August 2024,
together with 1 200 MHz of spectrum in the bands
administratively assigned for the provision of large
scale public mobile services in April 2019, and
400 MHz of spectrum in the bands currently available
for administrative assignment on a shared basis,
making up to a total of 2 800 MHz of millimetre-wave
spectrum released to the market. In parallel, we have
been closely monitoring the development trends
in both global and regional telecommunications
and spectrum planning initiatives. Among others,
we participated in the World Radiocommunication
Conference of the International Telecommunication
Union (ITU) held in late 2023 and followed up with
allocation of identified frequency bands for use by
various radiocommunications services in Hong Kong.

To support MNOs in expanding their 5G networks,
OFCA has been facilitating the installation of
radio base stations (RBSs) by MNOs at suitable
government premises and public facilities such as
public pay phone kiosks, sheltered bus stops and
smart lampposts. In the 2022 Policy Address, the
Chief Executive announced that the Government
would amend the legislation and relevant guidelines
to ensure appropriate available space in new
buildings for installation of mobile communications
facilities. In this regard, OFCA worked closely with
the Commerce and Economic Development Bureau
(CEDB) in introducing the Telecommunications
(Amendment) Bill 2023 to the Legislative Council
(LegCo) in December 2023.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General




e B o

Message from the Director-General

(20245 B (EF]) &MY 1M2024F 2821 HAIE
a8 - BEEURERSRISENEEAERERY

(BB RERZNER « TX - FEMNREREY) HE
BERRRMMER RENEMREMERHNER - BRMET
BR2024F 108 1HER ° 7£2025F 45 1z B EH 2
FERIEEE RS RIRIEEINENK - ENEHATERY
RAEERTGIREEMT IR REBANRME - Ltk
FHEEME— S REERNRBPREEREE

THRET (Q023FREIREG) HE—FRHTEEHS
SGEREIIER - Bt - /MBARRRERISHEISGHEIE
RE - BEMER ERBRHEARREMEENE « 18515
e BFAMBARF  BERRRERRF - EREEE
EmieRREE RS (BEPREAEESHEM FE
B ERAEERRERLO  mNEREELE - HSFD

BB E NIRRT EET RSP ER -

OFCA staff members carrying out a mobile coverage
measurement at Kai Tak Sports Park.
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The Telecommunications (Amendment) Ordinance
2024 was passed by LegCo on 21 February 2024,
enabling CA to grant authorisation for MNOs to gain
free access to reserved space in specified buildings
(including new and redeveloped commerecial, industrial,
residential and hotel buildings) for installation and
maintenance of mobile communications facilities. The
relevant amendment took effect on 1 October 2024.
Specified buildings with building plans approved on or
after 1 April 2025 will be required to follow the new
requirements. New government buildings and public
housing will also follow the arrangement for installing
mobile communications facilities. The arrangement
will help further expand the mobile network coverage
and capacity in Hong Kong.

The Chief Executive further announced various
initiatives in the 2023 Policy Address to promote 5G
development. First, to enhance 5G network capacity
at major public event venues, OFCA is proactively
coordinating with relevant MNOs, relevant venue
managers and government departments to streamline
the approval and installation procedures to facilitate
prompt installation of 5G RBSs by MNOs at these
venues, including Central Harbourfront Event Space,
Hong Kong Coliseum, Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, AsiaWorld-Expo, Victoria Park and
Kai Tak Sports Park. Such installations could enhance
their 5G network capacity and ensure smoother
communications services for mobile users attending
major public events at these venues.

Second, the Government will supply more spectrum
to MNOs by auctions, with a view to improving the
transmission speed of 5G networks. In this regard,
OFCA will conduct two auctions in November
2024 for the 850/900 MHz, 2.3 GHz and the newly
launched 6/7 GHz bands in 2024, providing a
total of 510 MHz of spectrum for public mobile
communications services. MNOs who acquire the

spectrum in these bands will benefit from the Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (Tax Deductions for Spectrum
Utilization Fees) Ordinance 2024 which took effect
in January 2024, allowing full tax deductions for
the relevant spectrum utilization fees. The tax
incentive concerned is a 2023-24 Budget initiative,
aiming to encourage MNOs to invest in mobile
communications services through bidding for these
radio spectrum.

Third, to improve network coverage in remote and
rural areas, the 2023 Policy Address announced
that the Government will expedite the expansion of
mobile network infrastructure in rural and remote
areas through subsidies, with a view to enhancing
the mobile network coverage and capacity in these
areas so as to improve the quality of life of the
residents and safeguard the safety of visitors.
To take forward the initiative, OFCA is now liaising
with MNOs on the technical issues in connection
with the mobile network and the setting up of
RBSs in rural and remote areas. Moreover, OFCA
has been implementing the Subsidy Scheme to
Extend Fibre-based Networks to Villages in Remote
Areas since 2019. With a total funding amount of
HK$770 million, the subsidy scheme offers financial
incentives for fixed network operators (FNOs)
to extend their fibre-based networks to a total
of 235 remote villages. Upon the award of all six
tender projects under the subsidy scheme between
November 2019 and May 2020, the selected
FNOs have extended their fibre-based networks
to 200 villages so far. One of the most notable
achievements was the completion of the installation
of three submarine fibre cables to Lamma Island,
Cheung Chau and Peng Chau in May 2023. In the
coming year, OFCA will continue to monitor the
implementation progress, with a view to ensuring
that relevant works for all villages under the subsidy
scheme will be completed by 2026.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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Telecommunications service providers have adopted “iAM
Smart” as the default registration method for Hong Kong
identity card holders in completing real-name registration of
pre-paid SIM cards starting from 1 October 2024.
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A staff member of OFCA using the signal monitoring system
to measure the digital terrestrial television signals emitted
by broadcasters to ensure their compliance of relevant
technical standards.
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The Real-name Registration Programme for Subscriber
Identification Module (SIM) Cards (RNR Programme)
was fully implemented in February 2023. The RNR
Programme requires that all SIM cards issued and used
locally (including SIM service plans and pre-paid SIM
cards) must have completed real-name registration
before service activation. To further enhance the
registration platforms, telecommunications service
providers have adopted “iAM Smart” as the default
registration method for Hong Kong identity card
holders in completing real-name registration of
pre-paid SIM cards starting from 1 October 2024. OFCA
will work continuously with relevant telecommunications
service providers to ensure effective implementation
of the RNR Programme through regular reviews, market
surveillance and public education.

B E M BARRUNER ELH T TERAA -

OFCA staff members conducting a regular check on the real-
name registration platforms provided by telecommunications
service providers.

To tackle phone scams, OFCA has been working
closely with the Police and telecommunications service
providers to devise and implement technical measures
as well as coordinate publicity efforts. In 2023/24,
a series of measures were successfully implemented
by the telecommunications industry. They include
blocking suspicious +852 calls incoming from outside
Hong Kong, sending voice or text alerts to mobile
service users before receiving +852 calls incoming
from outside Hong Kong, and suspending services for
local telephone numbers when suspicious call patterns

from these numbers are detected, etc. As of end
August 2024, telecommunications service providers
have blocked more than 4.2 million suspicious calls
starting with “+852” and suspended the services
for about 1.13 million local telephone numbers,
while mobile service providers have issued more than
26.5 million voice or text alerts.

On the other hand, OFCA introduced the Sender
Registration Scheme for Short Message Service (SMS)
to help members of the public verify the identities
of SMS senders. Under the scheme, all “Registered
Senders” have to use their “Registered SMS Sender
IDs” with the prefix “#” to send SMS messages to
local subscribers of mobile services. The scheme has
been implemented since 28 December 2023, and
was open to all sectors for application starting from
February 2024. As of end August 2024, more than
320 organisations have joined the scheme, including
telecommunications service providers, banks and
63 government departments and statutory bodies
which need to communicate with members of the
public via SMS messages (including the Immigration
Department, the Department of Health, the Hong Kong
Police Force, the Customs and Excise Department, the
Consumer Council and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority). We will continue to encourage
active participation of companies and organisations to
join the scheme, with a view to enhancing the security
and credibility of SMS messages and providing better
protection to members of the public.

Broadkcasting Services

During the year, OFCA assisted CA in revising the
Television and Radio Codes of Practice on Programme
and Advertising Standards (CoPs). The amendments
took into account the views received from the public
and the industry, along with the more challenging
business environment faced by the broadcasters. In a
bid to reduce compliance costs and to facilitate new
revenue streams, the revision included relaxation of
sponsorship and indirect advertising regulation for
television and radio. The requirement for broadcasters
to safeguard national security was also included in the
revised CoPs and took effect since December 2023.

Chapter 1 | Message from the Director-General
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The Director-General of Communications, Mr Chaucer Leung,
officiated the launching ceremony of "CommBo", the mascot
of OFCA, at the “Use Communications Services Smartly.
Stay Vigilant against Telephone Scams” roving exhibition in
March 2024.
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Launch of OFCA’s Mascot Combating fraudulent calls and messages transmitted

Following an internal design competition, the
mascot of OFCA, “CommBo”, was officially launched in
March 2024. Acting as OFCA’s spokesperson and
ambassador, it shares information about CA and OFCA
with the public in a friendly and approachable way.
Going forward, CommBo will deliver different messages
in relation to the smart use of communications services
through various publicity channels.

Major Challenges Ahead

On the broadcasting front, OFCA is conducting a
public opinion survey regarding broadcasting services
which is expected to be completed by the end of
2024. This survey aims to track the public’s evolving
viewing and listening habits. The results will serve
as a reference for CA to handle the licence renewal
applications from major broadcasting licensees in the
coming years.

On the telecommunications front, in addition to the
two spectrum auctions to be conducted in November
2024, as the existing assignments of 50 MHz of
spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band are due to expire
in May 2028, OFCA will assist CA in conducting a
re-assignment exercise for the 2.5/2.6 GHz band. A
public consultation was launched in September 2024
to solicit views from interested parties regarding the
proposed re-assignment arrangements.

For the 2023 Policy Address initiative on enhancing
5G coverage in rural and remote areas, OFCA has
already kicked off the relevant preparatory work for
implementation of a subsidy scheme and is seeking
comments from stakeholders before ironing out
the technical details of the scheme. Our target is
to launch the scheme in 2025 after acquiring the
necessary funding from LegCo.

via telecommunications networks is an ongoing
battle for OFCA. Apart from overseeing the effective
implementation of the RNR Programme and the SMS
Sender Registration Scheme, we will continue to work
with the Police and the telecommunications industry
as well as to exchange experiences with regulators in
other jurisdictions, for enhancing existing measures
and introducing new measures to better protect
telecommunications service users from deception.

In summary, 2023/24 is a challenging yet fruitful
year for OFCA. Accomplishment of all the planned
tasks are attributable to the dedication, team
spirit and “can-do” attitude exhibited by OFCA
colleagues. | would also like to take this opportunity
to acknowledge the invaluable guidance of the
Chairman and Members of CA as well as the
unwavering support furnished by our licensees as
we strove to exceed expectations in our regulatory
duties. Looking ahead, OFCA will continue to support
CA and collaborate with the communications industry
with a view to cultivating an incessantly vibrant
communications market to the interest of the general
public and strengthening Hong Kong’s position as
the communications hub in the region.

Chapter 1| Message from the Director-General
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Amendments to Broadcasting To pave the way for the upcoming licence renewal
Codes of Practice exercise, OFCA is conducting a broadcasting service

survey to track changes in the viewing and listening
habits of the general public in Hong Kong. The
information and statistics obtained from the survey
will serve as a useful reference for CA in handling
applications from major broadcasting licensees for
renewal of their licences. It is expected that the
survey will be completed by the end of 2024.

With the support of OFCA, CA has completed the
review of the CoPs, having taken into account views
received from the public and the industry. In view of
the increasingly challenging business environment
faced by the licensees, the latest revisions provided
timely relaxations to the regulatory regime of the
broadcasting sector, including the regulation of
programme sponsorship and indirect advertising
for television and radio. The relaxations also
help licensees strengthen their financial position
by creating new revenue-generating channels,
contributing to the sustainable development of the
broadcasting sector.

New,/Renewal of Non-domestic Television
Programme Service and Other Licensable
Jelevision Programme Service Licences

In 2023/24, OFCA processed a new application for
other licensable television programme service licence
for the provision of television programme services
in hotel rooms in Hong Kong. OFCA also handled
an application for renewal of one non-domestic
television programme service licence. All these
applications were approved by CA.

Given the importance of safeguarding national
security, the latest revision also introduced a
requirement for broadcasting licensees to safeguard
national security in broadcasting their programmes. The
relevant provisions apply to all licensed broadcasting
services.

The revised CoPs were published in the Gazette on
15 December 2023 and took effect on the same day.

Licence Administration

Paving the Way for Renewal of Six Major Licences

Six maj.or broadca!s.tmg licences, |nclu.d|nfg three ST B B T A R B B B T
domestic free television programme service licences, BEELE o

one domestic pay television programme service ) ) o
I dt d broadcasting li d A staff member of OFCA using a satellite broadcast monitoring
Icence and two sound broadcasting licences, are due system to monitor receivable satellite television signals in

to expire in 2027 and 2028. Hong Kong.
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Cross-boundary Coordination for conditions and the codes of practice that it has

. . issued. As the executive arm of CA, OFCA assists CA
Broadcastlng FrequenCles in handling complaints about broadcast materials in

accordance with the provisions in the Broadcasting
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391)
(B(MP)O) and the broadcast complaint handling
procedures of CA.

OFCA has regular meetings with the Mainland
authorities for coordination of broadcasting frequencies
for use in Guangdong Province and Hong Kong.
Regarding the provision of a new FM programme
channel (i.e. Radio The Greater Bay) by Radio Television
Hong Kong (RTHK), OFCA has identified a set of FM
frequencies for its territory-wide coverage. In November
2023, OFCA successfully completed the relevant
frequency coordination work with the Mainland
authorities. All the coordinated FM frequencies would
be assigned to RTHK in phases by the end of 2024.

In 2023/24, OFCA handled 1 783 cases (involving
8 216 complaints)’, which represented a decrease of
4% in the number of cases, and a significant increase
of 106% in the number of complaints processed?,
as compared with the figures in 2022/23 (1 857 cases,
involving 3 984 complaints). Among those cases
handled, six cases (involving 14 complaints) were
referred to the Broadcast Complaints Committee
under CA for consideration before submission
to CA for deliberation and determination. All
complaint cases considered by CA are published on
its website. The remaining 1 777 cases (involving
8 202 complaints) relating to breaches of a minor
nature, or allegations which did not constitute any

To support future development of Digital Terrestrial
Television (DTT) services in Hong Kong, OFCA would
continue to coordinate with the Mainland authorities
with a view to identifying additional DTT frequency
channels for use in Hong Kong.

Handling of Broadcast Complaints breach or were outside the remit of section 11(1)
of the B(MP)O (i.e. the substance of the complaints
It is the standing practice that CA does not pre- did not involve contravention of relevant legislation,
censor broadcast content. Instead, it adopts a licence conditions or provisions in the codes of
complaint-driven approach to ensure that broadcast practice), were handled by the Director-General of
content complies with prevailing legislation, licence Communications under CA’s delegated authority.

! To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations relating to the same issue or broadcast material are grouped
together for handling and counted as a single case.

2 The significant increase in the number of complaints was mainly due to the fact that there was a case involving over 4 600
complaints.
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Facilitating 5G Developments

Making Spectrum Available in Multiple
Frequency Band's

The advent of 5G technology opens up vast potential
for various commercial and smart city applications such
as internet of things, remote operation, telemedicine
and intelligent transportation. With the extensive
availability of 5G in Hong Kong, mobile users are now
enjoying vastly improved services with high speed,
high capacity, high reliability, massive connectivity and
low latency communications.

As of end March 2024, CA had assigned a total
of 2 130 MHz of radio spectrum in various low,
mid and high frequency bands, namely 700 MHz,
3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz, 4.9 GHz, and 26 GHz and 28 GHz
for public mobile telecommunications use, including
the provision of 5G services. Since the launch of
commercial 5G services on 1 April 2020, as of end
March 2024, 5G coverage in Hong Kong has exceeded
90% with all the populated districts, bustling shopping
malls and mass transit railway stations covered.

o Making Available Additional 5G Spectrum to Meet the
Demand of Operators

In order to meet the growing needs of innovative 5G
applications in terms of speed, capacity and coverage,
OFCA supported CA’'s work to release additional
spectrum in different frequency bands to the market.
OFCA relocated the relevant users of fixed links and
outside broadcasting links operating in the 6/7 GHz
band to other frequency bands with a view to making
available 400 MHz of spectrum in the 6/7 GHz band
for public mobile services. The 6/7 GHz band may also
be suitable for 6G deployment, making Hong Kong a
first mover in releasing relevant frequency band for 6G

development. OFCA also administratively assigned
another 1 200 MHz of the non-shared spectrum in
the 26/28 GHz band for the provision of 5G or more
advanced mobile services in August 2024.

o /mplementation of Re-assignment of Frequency
Spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz Band

Upon expiry of the previous assignment in March
2024, 90 MHz of spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band
was re-assigned to three MNOs following an auction
held in October 2021, with the result that some of
the frequency assignments in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band
would be changing hands in the new 15-year term
of assignments. OFCA convened a meeting of the
technical working group comprising representatives
of the three MNOs concerned in September 2022
to coordinate the relevant technical arrangements.
Through the concerted efforts of the technical working
group, 90 MHz of spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band
was seamlessly handed over to the new assignees in
March 2024.

BN S B A — R B SN E NS EE -

A staff member of OFCA conducting a field measurement on a
mobile network operator’s indoor network coverage.
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OFCA staff members carrying out an inspection on the installed
facilities of in-village Wi-Fi hotspots under the subsidy scheme.



( 2023/24 Trading Fund Report &2 & iREE

o Preparing for Re-assignment of Frequency Spectrum in
the 850/900 MHz and 2.3 GHz Bandls

The current assignments of 20 MHz of spectrum in
the 850/900 MHz band and 90 MHz of spectrum in
the 2.3 GHz band will expire in May 2026 and March
2027 respectively. It is planned that the relevant
spectrum will be used for public mobile services. With
OFCA's support, CA and the Secretary for Commerce
and Economic Development (SCED) conducted a joint
public consultation in November 2022 and issued a
joint statement in May 2023 about the re-assignment
arrangements as well as the related spectrum utilization
fee (SUF). Pursuant to the above decision, the spectrum
concerned will be re-assigned by way of auction in
November 2024.

o Preparing for Assignment of Frequency Spectrum in the
6/7 GHz Band

The spectrum in the 6/7 GHz band is the largest
block of the mid-band spectrum that can be made
available for mobile services. With OFCA’s support,
CA and SCED launched a joint public consultation in
July 2023, and promulgated the decisions through
a joint statement issued in March 2024 about the
assignment arrangements as well as the related SUF.
Pursuant to the above decision, OFCA will conduct an
auction for a total of 400 MHz of new spectrum in the
6/7 GHz band in November 2024.

o Preparing for Re-assignment of Frequency Spectrum in
the 2.5/2.6 GHz Band

Whilst 90 MHz of spectrum in the 2.5/2.6 GHz band
was re-assigned to three MNOs in March 2024 for
another term of 15 years, the current assignments of

the remaining 50 MHz of spectrum in the same band
will expire in May 2028. OFCA provided support to
CA and SCED for conducting a public consultation on
the re-assignment arrangements and the related SUF
in September 2024.

Implementation of the Subsidy Scheme to
Extend Fibre-based Networks to Villages in
Remote Areas

In support of the Government’s policy initiative to
improve network coverage in remote areas, OFCA
continued to implement the subsidy scheme with
a funding of HK$770 million to provide financial
incentives for FNOs to extend fibre-based networks
to 235 villages across nine districts in the New
Territories and outlying islands in phases from
2021 to 2026, benefitting about 110 000 villagers.
As these villages are located far away from the
existing fibre-based backbone networks of FNOs,
villagers could only choose broadband services
delivered over copper-based networks at a speed of
no more than 10 Mbps before implementation of the
subsidy scheme.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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Under the subsidy scheme, the rollout of submarine fibre

cables connecting Lamma Island, Cheung Chau and Peng Chau
was completed in May 2023.
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The 235 villages were grouped under six tender projects
(namely, Project 1 to Project 6) which were approved
under the subsidy scheme between November 2019 and
May 2020. Selected FNOs were entrusted to roll out
fibre-based lead-in connections to the villages concerned,
and lay three submarine fibre-based cables connecting
Lamma Island to Hong Kong Island (under Project 5), as
well as Cheung Chau to Lantau Island and Peng Chau to
Lantau Island (under Project 6) respectively. To introduce
competition, the selected FNOs are required to open
up at least half of the capacity of the network facilities
and submarine fibre-based cables subsidised under the
subsidy scheme for use by other FNOs for free.

By far, the selected FNOs have already extended their
fibre-based networks to 200 villages and completed
the rollout of three submarine fibre cables connecting
Lamma Island, Cheung Chau and Peng Chau. OFCA will
continue to supervise the implementation of the subsidy
scheme and it is expected that fibre-based networks will
be extended to all villages covered by the subsidy scheme
by 2026.

With the extension of the fibre-based networks, not only
will the villagers concerned be able to enjoy high-speed
fixed broadband services, MNOs will also be able to make
use of the new networks as backhaul for their mobile
networks and provide high-speed and innovative mobile
services including 5G services to the areas concerned.

Ensuring Availability of Space in and Access
to New Buildings for Installation of Mobile
Communications Facllities

The 2022 Policy Address announced that the
Government will further expand the 5G network
by amending legislation to ensure availability of
appropriate space in new buildings for installation of
mobile communications facilities. To take forward the
initiative, OFCA assisted CEDB in formulating the

legislative proposal to ensure availability of reserved
space in and access to new buildings for installation of
mobile communications facilities by MNOs. Industry
consultation sessions were conducted from February
to April 2023 to seek views from stakeholders
(including the developers, telecommunications trade,
professional bodies, etc.) on the proposal. A total of
13 submissions were received and all were supportive
of the proposal.

The Telecommunications (Amendment) Bill 2023
was introduced into LegCo in December 2023 and
passed by LegCo on 21 February 2024. Under the
Telecommunications (Amendment) Ordinance 2024,
MNOs may be authorised by CA for free access to
reserved space in specified buildings (including new
and redeveloped commercial, industrial, residential
and hotel buildings) to install and maintain mobile
communications facilities. In addition, new government
buildings and public housing will also follow the
arrangements for installing mobile communications
facilities. The arrangement will help further expand
the mobile network coverage and capacity in Hong
Kong. The relevant amendment took effect on
1 October 2024, of which MNOs authorised by CA
can install and maintain mobile communications
facilities in the reserved space in specified buildings
with building plans approved on or after 1 April 2025.

In the meantime, OFCA assisted CA in developing the
“Code of Practice for the Provision of Mobile Access
Facilities in Specified Buildings for the Provision of
Public Mobile Radiocommunications Services”, which
sets out the specific requirements for developers
and MNOs regarding the installation of mobile
communications facilities in specified buildings.
OFCA is also liaising with other relevant government
departments in updating the respective administrative
guidelines to ensure timely implementation of the
new requirements.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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OFCA staff members conducting a meeting with the
representatives of mobile network operators and the Leisure
and Cultural Services Department on the issues concerning the
installation of radio base stations at a government venue.

B8 | DEEATSRNR

2024 8B K - BAFTERETE FHIRBI24617 5 - LE
HAEPI34DEHE -

FREATIZATS - BAFE RIS - @R REEEE T
BLEBIHMARKEERETREEREEL - HEF
MBS E IR E B LR - BRI AIN2020F48 K
LIAMET (ERARKEER ST RRERERIMLURH
RERBRBOIES) & (ERELEBTHLTKERE
IR ERLRBRFFEIES) - BE2024F8BE -
HAELRKEE LEC TR EERER LA RREL - 5
S BAFSRARERES L 2 ED - LTAEZER
REAHEDHARBEEEMBLEERERY - UEEZ
WIBASGHIREE - ERABNR AW ENEEDH!
mEMRRREAE R EEESTERENSGEY - BRH
FBEMR2024F 4B TR ER - B EHHER X T RABRIK
FFERFIE1E » MBEEREERBERMN AR - UKk
EFEMEE TR o

o FER BB BB N EANEEXN

HEE (2023-24FEHMBFERE) BEHE - BERMHED
EREBIERT 7 A6 - RSN E M RIS B RTH
BIRBIREMARI IR ER BB TRBNR - LB
HERBREREEAEERE o (20245F 8 (E5F])
(RANSEFE A BNBIRIR) %F) ENR2024F18
19HERK - REBHEE M AL IRIS H AR BRI AR Y
BOSEEEE A E AT E 2 BRI S HIMR - ZRBRE TR
EECHIA 2 HRBNTT o BRI FRIEE S RSB REN IS
SRR R B IR IR E R B ARTS o



( 2023/24 Trading Fund Report &EESREE

Facilitating the Rollout of 5G Networks

Owing to the characteristics of 5G, more RBSs are
required to be installed to provide reasonable 5G
network coverage. To facilitate the expedient and
effective rollout of 5G network, OFCA has launched
a pilot scheme since March 2019 to open up more
than 1 500 suitable government premises for MNOs
to install RBSs. OFCA has set up a dedicated team
to coordinate with MNOs and relevant government
departments to streamline the application process
under the scheme. OFCA has accordingly issued
the “Guidance Notes for Submission of Applications
under the Pilot Scheme for Installation of Radio
Base Stations at Selected Government Venues”, setting
out the principles, requirements and streamlined
procedures for application. As an incentive for
MNOs, a nominal rental of HK$1 per year is charged
for each RBS installed. As of end August 2024, 246
applications were received under the scheme, of
which 134 were approved.

Apart from government premises, the Government
has established mechanisms to facilitate MNOs’
installation of RBSs at sheltered bus stops and public
payphone kiosks. To facilitate MNOs’ access to these
facilities, OFCA issued the “Guidelines on the Use
of Public Payphone Kiosks for the Installation of
Radio Base Stations for Provision of Public Mobile
Services” and “Guidelines on the Use of Sheltered
Bus Stops for the Installation of Radio Base Stations
for Provision of Public Mobile Services” in April and

November 2020 respectively. As of end August 2024,
12 applications for installation of RBS at sheltered
bus stop were approved. Moreover, the Government
will reserve available space and loading capacity at
multi-functional smart lampposts in various districts
for RBS installation to further expand the 5G network
coverage. The four local MNOs have submitted
applications to CA respectively for using the first
batch of 5G RBSs installed at the smart lampposts,
and the vetting of the applications was completed
in April 2024. OFCA will continue to work with the
industry and relevant government departments in
identifying suitable public facilities for installation of
RBSs and facilitating technical trials.

o Lncouraging Investments in Telecommunications
Infrastructure by Providing Tax Incentive

In support of the 2023-24 Budget initiative, OFCA
assisted CEDB in amending the legislation to
incentivise investment in mobile communications
infrastructure through tax deduction on the SUF
payable by MNOs on spectrum acquired through
auctions in future. The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(Tax Deductions for Spectrum Utilization Fees)
Ordinance 2024 took effect on 19 January 2024.
The SUF payable by MNOs for the radio spectrum
to be acquired will be fully deductible from profits
tax and the tax deduction will spread over the
spectrum assignment term. The tax deduction aims to
encourage MNOs to invest in mobile communications
services through bidding for radio spectrum.
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OFCA staff members and relevant stakeholders inspecting the
Hong Kong Coliseum and discussing about matters in relation
to the installation of radio base stations at the venue in order
to enhance the 5G network capacity.
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Coordination with Relevant Organisations to
Enhance 5G Network Capacity at Major Public
Event Venues

The 2023 Policy Address announced that the
Government will coordinate proactively with relevant
organisations to enhance 5G network capacity
at major public event venues. To implement the
initiative, OFCA is actively coordinating with relevant
stakeholders including government departments,
venue managers and MNOs to install RBSs at major
public event venues, including Central Harbourfront
Event Space (CHES), Hong Kong Coliseum (HKC), Hong
Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre (HKCEC),
AsiaWorld-Expo (AWE), Victoria Park (VP) and Kai
Tak Sports Park (KTSP). Since April 2024, MNOs have
already activated 5G RBSs and provided 5G services
at HKCEC, AWE and VP, whereas the installation of
5G RBSs at CHES, HKC and KTSP are in progress and
5G services would be in place gradually. OFCA will
continue to coordinate with relevant organisations to
set up mobile communications facilities at major event
venues to ensure that the public and event participants
can enjoy quality communications services and provide
high-level telecommunications infrastructure for
reinforcing Hong Kong’s position as an international
hub for mega events.

Subsidy Scheme to Extend 5G Coverage in
Rural and Remote Areas

The 2023 Policy Address announced that the
Government will enhance the coverage of 5G networks

by expediting the expansion of mobile network
infrastructure in rural and remote areas through
subsidies. To take forward the initiative, OFCA
has commenced the preparatory work for the
implementation of the subsidy scheme, including
liaison with MNOs about the mobile network
coverage in rural and remote areas and technical
matters in relation to the installation of RBSs. An
industry consultation on the proposed framework was
completed in August 2024. We are consulting local
stakeholders and finalising details of the proposal
taking into account the views received. We plan
to seek funding approval from LegCo in 2025 for
implementation of the subsidy scheme.

Lifting the ‘3.5 GHz Restriction Zone” in Tal Po

Following the reallocation of the 3.4-3.6 GHz
(3.5 GHz) band from fixed satellite service to
mobile service with effect from 1 April 2020, two
restriction zones in Tai Po and Stanley have been
delineated to enable the coexistence of 5G services
and the earth stations for telemetry, tracking and
control of the licensed satellites in orbit (TT&C
stations) operating in the same and adjacent
bands. In response to the industry request and
with input from the stakeholders, OFCA assisted
CA in issuing the “Guidelines for Installation of
Radio Base Stations Operating in the 3.4-3.6 GHz
Band within the Restriction Zones Delineated by
the Communications Authority” such that MNOs
would be able to deploy 3.5 GHz RBSs within the
restriction zones in a controlled manner.
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iz B hmE i

Meeting the New Challenges of the
Telecommunications Market

BTYRRILEE - BAMERREREESHEHE -
AP ER A3 SE MR IR (FRER B R Z ]k
WwEBEERAENE - UWERBBEBEREIEEEERE
ZHEFSGIET (BHE3.55H4RM) RIE5GHRF - /158
MIRE T - —REEEWEERM DM HERER
3S5EMIRFEAEFRER  EHRIZFIISBEERATM
2 ME—REEZEMBUACEAETHRERRRERE
RS - LB ERETE -

WoEER ~ EH RIS REHN I ERERNEER
BIEENE - #ii ~ DTR  BETENZERENANGE
Rig > UEERRRETHEENRFIZEE - ERIR
FRBFRRNERMMENR - RANBREE2024F108E
BB A 355 MRGIE) o EHEBTEMA] - KB
s MEm A B EMSGIES (HIa0700J8HH K 4.9H 4R
%) SHEAEBMAIRERIEE (FII0850IkiHH k2. 15 H
8 TERRGIE R H5GHRTS

Bt O S By {4 FE S ST SR 5 R {3 S AR
BEMNARFERIFT

BN -—ERREAXRNERERED - L2EEAKRE

Bt~ BRACHEEEEE (APT) REMBMEMRVERME
B EEE o BARPAEEEERALRITEEE

B=E | MEEATHISHER

EEBARNEE - TENMVERT - EBRBR20245F

BR®T2024F2026F AL MIER - MERRHARRK
ZFEREBREARRBR, HEMEREEARFHE
FRESRFE - HILFER - BN -—ERVERERERRN
023 FFESMPVHABREBEAGNGERR - E
EHEEEREBARY (BERBRY) FETHNER
BR o BRI ERETI5EE R BB B m R R
RS\ BSERE -

BAMUPERKRERENS 22 82023F11820HEF128
I5EEMAEBEEREEFRTHN2023F A RIREERE
RE o

OFCA participated in the World Radiocommunication
Conference 2023 held from 20 November to 15 December
2023 in Dubai, the United Arab Emirates, as members of the
Chinese delegation.
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To resolve the issue, OFCA has proactively liaised
with the concerned satellite operators regarding the
relocation of their TT&C stations operating in the
3.5 GHz band from Tai Po to the Chung Hom Kok
Teleport (the Teleport), so that MNOs can make
wider use of all the available 5G bands (including
the 3.5 GHz band) in Hong Kong for the provision of
5G services. With OFCA’s assistance, one satellite
operator has been granted a land lot for relocation
of its TT&C stations in the 3.5 GHz band from Tai Po
to the Teleport, while the other satellite operator has
undertaken to install satellite band-pass filters at its
satellite facilities to prevent radio interference.

Relocation of the TT&C stations involves complex
land and technical issues, including site selection,
land grants, site formation, construction work and
establishment of additional satellite antennae,
as well as ensuring that operation of the existing
satellites in orbit will not be affected. Considering
the lead time and effort required for completing

the relocation exercise, the target is to remove
the “3.5 GHz restriction zone” in Tai Po by end of
October 2024. Pending completion of relocation,
MNOs would make use of other 5G bands (e.g. the
700 MHz and 4.9 GHz bands) or re-farm their existing
spectrum (e.g. the 850 MHz and 2.1 GHz bands) to
provide 5G services in the restriction zones.

Ensuring Timely Supply of
Suitable Spectrum to Meet

the Needs of Emerging New
Radiocommunications Services

OFCA has kept up with worldwide development
trends in telecommunications and participates in
related international/regional meetings of the ITU,
Asia-Pacific Telecommunity (APT), and other
organisations. OFCA has also maintained close
dialogue with industry players in Hong Kong to keep
abreast of the development of the telecommunications
industry. With OFCA’'s recommendations, CA issued
the Spectrum Release Plan for 2024-2026 in February
2024 to inform the industry of the potential supply of
spectrum for provision of public mobile and/or other
radiocommunications services in the coming three
years. In parallel, OFCA has been closely monitoring
the development of new frequency bands for various
radiocommunications services, including mobile
services, arising from the outcomes of the World
Radiocommunication Conference of ITU convened
in late 2023. Taking note of the market development,
OFCA will assist CA in providing timely supply of
additional spectrum to the industry.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market




iz B hmE i

Meeting the New Challenges of the
Telecommunications Market

EERSETRAUDLERRER
FFRE

MRAMABDEERERBERURIETRR » BHA
AERZRBRRTEEERBPRELRZAE - RETER
BIREKIESTENE - @AM TR WIS EMESFRE
BEAR  URAEREEZRAMBEREZAENRERE
B/ ERFIR AR R B -

BEEE S B

Rig (B (EELBE#ERF) R (F106AI1E)
((BERBERM) ) - BERELHB2023F2RE2E
Bt - IRBHAE - FEEAHMBHREANEHEEEF
(B Lo AEBRBREFERETF) HARESRFHT
RERELR - BNFEERE (EREFESEFERER
HENESD) ((BR/EREESD ) - #AEAEETESR
BECHR ST | REFFEEXK ©

BERBEHEZEERLR  @MHTEET —RIER
RAETIF BAEAAREMEARALISY (BERE

B SRS — T AR B RS e T E R B ENTIS
KERRABRHAEEE
A staff member of OFCA conducting a market surveillance and

public education activity in relation to real-name registration
for SIM Cards in Sham Shui Po.

B | DEEATHIE

SRRA) K (BRESHES) NEX - @M —EREN
BafF LiREEMEFECESLSTaRMEREESR
ik HPEER2024F 108 1HERA MEHE) R
ERSMEREAETERREFTESECHERER
AT e

BAMERERENESF  REBRNARERETH
BRE - UHEREMESCICRTEASE - 15 - BFAReE
BIEETHERERLF  SEREEMBENERL TS
ETRETSEXETHRBREEMBELH - TEEIEE
TEMIE - UNRARHERECHIRERH

FTREFRESEMAE

@AM —EREAXMESRREGF - SIEMERRM
B SNHTREBENMBEXNFEREFZMAR
72023 24 E - BREERTHE > SERERS
BAEIETEE 1+852) RERERBREHFERERS

M+852) REFMBXFBETANFHAERET - BE20245F
8Bk - EFfFACMEIEBB420&EIN M+852) BHEMIATEE
RER AT HER T ERXER2 6508 EFEETHAXF
MR -

1 = s
= = = = v
Y EEI S e =
o o U ® o
O o
)|
~ @
-
0
(]
8\ \T ..l ‘
A%'?_k‘




( 2023/24 Trading Fund Report &EESREE

Administration of the Emergency
Alert System for Prompt
Dissemination of Time-critical
Messages of the Government

The Emergency Alert System (EAS) was set up
by four local MNOs, enabling the Government
to send time-critical messages via their mobile
networks to alert the public to take contingency
measures as soon as possible during emergency
situations. OFCA will work with the MNOs in
streamlining the operation and offer necessary
assistance to different bureaux/departments which
intend to disseminate emergency messages via

the EAS.

Implementation of Real-name
Registration Programme for SIM
Cards

Pursuant to the Telecommunications (Registration of
SIM Cards) Regulation (Cap. 106Al) (the Regulation),
the Real-name Registration Programme for SIM Cards
(RNR Programme) has been fully implemented since
February 2023, requiring that all SIM cards issued
and used locally (including SIM service plans and
pre-paid SIM cards) must have completed real-name
registration before service activation. CA has issued
the “Guidelines on Implementation of Real-name
Registration for SIM Cards” (the RNR Guidelines) to
provide guidance and detailed requirements of the
RNR Programme for telecommunications service
providers.

Since the full implementation of the RNR Programme,
OFCA has been carrying out a series of ongoing
monitoring and enforcement actions to ensure that
telecommunications service providers and other
relevant parties comply with the requirements of

the Regulation and the RNR Guidelines. OFCA has
been working continuously with telecommunications
service providers, and reminding them to enhance
their registration platforms and strengthen inspection
of their registration records. Among others, they
have adopted “iAM Smart” as the default registration
method for Hong Kong identity card holders in
completing real-name registration of pre-paid SIM
cards starting from 1 October 2024.

OFCA will continue to work with telecommunications
service providers to conduct sample checks on the
registration information to safeguard the integrity
of the registration records. OFCA will also continue
to carry out enforcement and monitoring actions,
including verification of telecommunications
service providers’ registration platforms, ad hoc
market surveillances and inspections of registration
records, and continue the publicity efforts to
enhance public awareness of the requirements of the
RNR Programme.

Tackling Fraudulent Calls and
Messages

OFCA has been working closely with the
telecommunications industry and the Police to
devise and implement technical measures against
fraudulent calls and messages delivered through
telecommunications networks. In 2023/24,
the telecommunications industry implemented
measures to block suspicious +852 calls incoming
from outside Hong Kong as well as to send voice or
text alerts to mobile service users before receiving
+852 calls incoming from outside Hong Kong.
As of end August 2024, telecommunications service
providers have blocked more than 4.2 million
suspicious calls starting with “+852” and mobile
service providers have issued more than 26.5 million
voice or text alerts.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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A staff member of OFCA distributing promotional leaflets to
members of the public to raise their alertness to telephone and
SMS scams.
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A staff member of OFCA testing the services of Smart Kiosk in
Causeway Bay.
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Besides, OFCA formulated a code of practice,
requiring mobile service providers and fixed service
providers to monitor calls originating from their
networks since end June 2023 and end December
2023 respectively. Should call patterns of suspected
phone deception be identified, the services of the
relevant telephone numbers would be suspended.
As of end August 2024, about 1.13 million local
telephone numbers were suspended in accordance
with the code of practice. OFCA will continue to work
with the telecommunications industry and the Police
to monitor and enhance the effectiveness of the

aforementioned measures.

Implementation of the SMS Sender
Registration Scheme

To help the public verify the authenticity of SMS
senders, OFCA worked with the telecommunications
industry, the banking industry and the Police to
establish the SMS Sender Registration Scheme.
Under the scheme, registered senders should use
Registered SMS Sender IDs with the prefix “#” to send
SMS messages to local subscribers of mobile services.

8 #Telecom X
_—-

All other SMS messages with sender IDs containing “#”
but not sent by Registered Senders would be blocked
by the telecommunications networks. The scheme
has been implemented since 28 December 2023, and
was open for application by all sectors starting from
February 2024. Major telecommunications service
providers, banks, government departments, statutory
bodies, companies and organisations from various
sectors (e.g. public utilities, retail, education, insurance
and credit finance, etc.) have joined the scheme
progressively. As of end August 2024, more than
320 companies and organisations have participated
in the scheme. OFCA would continue to publicise
the scheme and encourage more industries and
organisations to join the scheme.

Trial of Smart Payphone Kiosks

With the support of OFCA and other government
departments, PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited and
Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited
(HKT), a major operator of public payphone service,
commenced a trial of smart payphone kiosks (Smart
Kiosks) in March 2023 with the aim to revitalising
traditional kiosk-type public payphones. HKT
installed two trial Smart Kiosks in Causeway Bay and
Central in April and May 2023 respectively. Apart
from public payphone and free Wi-Fi services, the
Smart Kiosks also provide information services such
as transportation and public facilities available in
the vicinity, contact information of social welfare
services, tips for caregivers, and news and weather
information, as well as a USB charging port provided
to the public free of charge. OFCA will continue to
provide coordination support to HKT.
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A staff member of OFCA conducting an inspection on the
Fibre-to-the-Building/Fibre-to-the-Home system.
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Development of Fixed Broadband
Services

Along with the ongoing network expansion of
FNOs, Hong Kong has a high level of penetration of
broadband services. As of end March 2024, there
were around 3 million residential and commercial
fixed-broadband subscriptions, with the household
penetration rate exceeding 97%, among which
85% of the households are enjoying fixed-broadband
services via optical fibre.

According to a report issued by the Fibre to the
Home Council Europe in March 2024, among the 83
economies under comparison, Hong Kong was ranked
third worldwide in fibre to home/building household
penetration.

Implementation of the Labelling
Scheme for Buildings with Optical
Fibre Access

To promote the awareness of the public including
building owners and building management offices
(BMOs) on the merits of having optical fibre
networks in their buildings, OFCA has implemented
the Labelling Scheme for Buildings with Optical
Fibre Access since November 2022. Under the
scheme, OFCA compiles and maintains a register

N
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Buildings displayed with the designated label indicate that they
have access to optical fibre networks.

of buildings connected with optical fibre networks
based on the information provided by FNOs as well
as building owners, BMOs and property developers.
The register, in the form of a geographical
information system, is open to public inspection
on OFCA’s website. The relevant building owners
or BMOs are encouraged to display the designated
label in their buildings indicating the availability of
optical fibre networks there. As of end March 2024,
more than 70 500 buildings were registered under
the scheme, covering 92% of living quarters in Hong
Kong.

Launching the Labelling Scheme
for Buildings with 5G Indoor
Coverage

To provide the public with more stable and high-
speed mobile communications services, OFCA
launched the Labelling Scheme for Buildings with
5G Indoor Coverage in May 2024 which aims at
encouraging collaboration between MNOs and
building managers to install 5G communications
facilities and enhance mobile network coverage
in the indoor common areas of buildings such
as lobbies, lifts, carparks, shopping centres and
basements. Under the scheme, a designated label
will be posted at locations with 5G indoor base
stations installed, as a certification of 5G indoor
coverage at the vicinity.

Facilitating the Landing of
New Submarine Cable Systems in
Hong Kong

OFCA has been facilitating the operators to seek
statutory approvals of laying and landing of new
submarine cable systems in Hong Kong from
relevant government departments. With the support
of OFCA’s single-point-of-contact service, several
new regional or transcontinental submarine cable
systems are under construction and scheduled to be
put into service between 2024 and 2029.
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OFCA staff members conducting an inspection on a hotel
TV distribution system before the issuing of Hotel Television
(Transmission) Licence.
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Assessing the Use of the Sites
Granted for Telephone Exchanges
and Other Telecommunications-
related Facilities

The land leases of 42 sites granted to telecommunications
operators for establishing and operating telephone
exchanges and other telecommunications-related
facilities will expire in 2025. OFCA has been providing
support and technical advice to the Government
on the way forward from the telecommunications
perspective.

Review of the Charging Scheme
for Spectrum Utilization Fee
for Spectrum Assigned
Administratively

Since its implementation on 1 January 2018, the
charging scheme for the SUF for spectrum assigned
administratively (SUF Charging Scheme) has
encouraged spectrum users to use the spectrum
assigned to them in an efficient manner and
return excessive spectrum to CA. Over 200 links
in the designated six frequency bands subject
to the SUF have been returned to CA since the
introduction of the SUF Charging Scheme. As
the SUF Charging Scheme is subject to review

every five years, a review was conducted in
2023 and an industry consultation had been
conducted. Having considered the findings of
the review and the views of the stakeholders,
CA and SCED promulgated their decisions in
December 2023. The decision of CA is to maintain
the adoption of the existing criteria to identify
the frequency bands that are subject to SUF and
that the prevailing six designated frequency bands
should continue to be subject to SUF. Meanwhile,
SCED decided to maintain the prevailing SUF levels.

Enhancement of Licensing Regime
for Four Types of Licences

In alignment with the Government’s policy to improve
regulatory measures with a view to enhancing the
Hong Kong’s competitiveness, OFCA supported
CA to enhance the licensing regime of four types
of licences, namely Ship Station Licence, Broadcast
Radio Relay Station Licence, Hotel Television
(Transmission) Licence and Satellite Master Antenna
Television Licence, by extending the period of
validity of the licences from one year to two years
to enhance regulatory certainty for the licensees.
The enhancements took effect from March 2024.
OFCA will continue to assist CA in overseeing the
operation of the enhanced licensing regime.
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A staff member of OFCA checking the radio equipment
installed at the top of an antenna.
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Development of Hong Kong's
Satellite Networks

Since satellite spectrum and orbital positions are scarce
and invaluable resources, their use by communications
satellites should comply with the coordination and
notification requirements of ITU. OFCA supports local
licensed satellite operators to coordinate with foreign
administrations and assists in the processing of licences
for the operation of satellites in space orbits. As of end
March 2024, two satellite operators were licensed in
Hong Kong to track, control and conduct telemetry for a
total of nine geostationary satellites in orbit.

Setting and Enforcing
Telecommunications Standards

OFCA stays abreast of international developments in
telecommunications standardisation and updates local
technical standards in order to meet the needs of the
industry and the public. In 2023/24, two new technical
standards and three revised technical standards
governing RBSs, repeaters and user equipment for
public mobile services, including 5G services, were
approved and issued by CA.

Qualified local and overseas testing laboratories are
now providing testing and certification services for
different kinds of telecommunications equipment in
accordance with technical standards prescribed by

CA. In particular, a full range of telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services are
offered by local laboratories accredited by CA
as local certification bodies (LCBs). In 2023/24,
LCBs and foreign certification bodies issued 545
equipment certificates to meet the needs of the
telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services meet
the required service quality and performance
standards, OFCA will continue to closely monitor their
performance by conducting regular documentary
checks, on-site visits and reviews. So far, all LCBs have

complied with the requirements set by OFCA.

BB E R BRAETREEREFEM - UERES
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A staff member of OFCA conducting an inspection on a
medical electronic equipment at a government hospital to
ensure its compliance with the licence conditions.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market
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OFCA staff members handling public enquiries related to
broadcasting and telecommunications matters through the
hotline.
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Handling and Investigation

of Competition Complaints

in the Telecommunications
and Broadcasting Sectors, and
Mergers & Acquisitions in the
Telecommunications Sector

The Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619) (CO) provides
a cross-sectoral competition law prohibiting
anti-competitive conduct in all sectors. Under the
CO, CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with
the Competition Commission to enforce the CO in
respect of the conduct of undertakings operating in
the telecommunications and broadcasting sectors,
including merger and acquisition activities involving
carrier licensees in the telecommunications sector.

Pursuant to the memorandum of understanding
signed by CA and the Competition Commission, CA
will ordinarily assume the role of the lead authority
for matters falling within the concurrent jurisdiction.
For matters involving issues that are partly within
and partly outside the concurrent jurisdiction, CA and
the Competition Commission will discuss and agree
on the best arrangement in handling the matter on a
case-by-case basis.

From 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, a total
of 22 complaints and enquiries were received
under the CO, out of which 18 cases were closed
without the need for further action and four cases
are being processed.

During the year, OFCA also assisted CA in reviewing
two transactions under the merger rule of the CO,
and no further action was considered necessary after
the review.

Handling and Investigation
of Complaints about Unfair
Trade Practices in the
Telecommunications and
Broadcasting Sectors

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Cap. 362) (TDO) prohibit certain specified
unfair trade practices by traders in the provision of
goods and services to consumers.

CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the
Customs and Excise Department to enforce the
fair trading sections of the TDO regarding the
commercial practices of licensees under the TO
and the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562) directly
connected with the provision of telecommunications
and broadcasting services. The two enforcement
agencies have entered into a memorandum of
understanding to coordinate the performance of
their functions under the fair trading sections of the
TDO and have issued a set of enforcement guidelines
to provide guidance for traders and consumers
regarding the operation of the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024, OFCA handled
a total of 305 complaint cases under the TDO,
259 of them were closed due to insufficient evidence
to establish the occurrence of a contravention or
because they fell outside the scope of the TDO.
Seven cases (including one successful prosecution
case against a salesperson who was convicted
by the court in October 2023) were closed after CA
issued advisory letters to the licensees concerned
to bring the subject matter to their attention with
advice for improving their relevant commercial
practices in relation to the sale, supply or promotion
of telecommunications or broadcasting services
to consumers. The remaining 39 cases were under
processing.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-Not-Call Registers

CA has established three Do-Not-Call (DNC)
Registers, for facsimile messages, short messages
and pre-recorded telephone messages respectively
under the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(Cap. 593) (UEMO). No commercial electronic
messages (CEMs) shall be sent to registered telephone
numbers unless the senders have obtained consent
from the registered users. As of end March 2024,
these DNC Registers contained more than 2.8 million
telephone numbers. Apart from not sending CEMs
to the registered telephone numbers on the DNC
Registers, senders of CEMs are also required under
the UEMO to comply with a number of rules. For
example, they must provide the recipients with their
contact information and an “unsubscribe facility”
in their CEMs so that the recipients can contact the
senders and unsubscribe from receiving their CEMs.

In 2023/24, OFCA received 688 reports regarding
suspected contraventions of the UEMO, an increase
of about 27% from the previous year. A majority of
these reports were related to pre-recorded telephone
messages and short messages. OFCA will continue to
monitor the compliance situation and streamline the
procedures for more effective enforcement.

Enforcement

OFCA will take enforcement actions on cases
suspected of contravening the UEMO. Generally
speaking, for cases where the number of reports
received against a sender is below a certain threshold,
OFCA will issue an advisory letter reminding the
sender to observe the requirements under the UEMO.
In cases where the number of reports received against
a sender exceeds the threshold, or if OFCA continues
to receive reports against the same sender after the
issuance of advisory letter, OFCA will conduct formal
investigation and may issue warning letter to the
sender. In 2023/24, a total of 48 advisory letters and

six warning letters were issued. Cases where senders
of CEMs who have rectified their breaches after
receiving advisory letters or warning letters will not
be proceeded for further enforcement actions like
enforcement notices issued to the senders of CEMs.

In the event of repeated contraventions by a sender
of CEMs, CA may issue an enforcement notice in
accordance with section 38 of the UEMO directing
the sender to take steps to remedy the contravention.
Anyone who fails to comply with an enforcement
notice may be liable to a fine of up to HK$100,000 on
the first conviction.

Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use of
Telecommunications Services

Self-Regulatory Measures Voluntarily
Implemented by the Industry

To safeguard consumer interests in the use of
telecommunications services, OFCA takes proactive
actions to implement various consumer protection
measures and works with the industry to draw up and
implement self-regulatory measures for addressing
new consumer issues that may arise from time
to time.

These measures include the voluntary Customer
Complaint Settlement Scheme (CCSS) administered
by the Communications Association of Hong
Kong representing the industry. The CCSS aims to
help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their
customers through mediation.

Other self-regulatory measures voluntarily implemented
by the industry include the promulgation of the Code
of Practice for Telecommunications Service Contracts to
improve the clarity of provisions in the telecommunications
service contracts as well as the Code for the Provision
of Chargeable Mobile Content Services to govern the
practices of third-party content service providers.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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OFCA conducted a series of roadshows in collaboration with
CEDB, various political parties, LegCo Members and District
Council Members to promote anti-phone scam messages in 18
districts in the first half of 2024.
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Other examples include implementation of mobile bill
shock preventive measures as well as publication on
OFCA's website details of the arrangements adopted by
major residential broadband service providers to handle
service termination requests from consumers.

OFCA will continue to monitor the implementation
and effectiveness of the various consumer protection
measures adopted and, where necessary, engage the
industry to seek further improvement of the existing
measures or introduce new measures.

Broadband Performance Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has been providing a
broadband performance test system which enables
broadband service users to measure the performance
of their broadband connections, including download
and upload speeds, network latency, packet loss and
jitter. Apart from users of desktop and notebook
computers, users of smart phones and tablets running
iOS and Android operating systems may also make
use of the test system.

OFCA reviews and upgrades the test system
from time to time to enhance its capability and
performance. Currently, it supports speed tests of
up to 10 Gbps for desktop and notebook computers
and up to 5 Gbps for iOS-based and Android-based
mobile devices. From service launch to March 2024,
more than 124 million broadband performance tests
were conducted with the use of the system.

Consumer Education Programmes

Publicity Efforts Against Telephone Scams

In view of the rising trend of telephone scams,
OFCA conducted an array of consumer education
programmes and activities during the year to
enhance publicity and increase public awareness
against telephone scams. Under the theme “Use
Communications Services Smartly. Stay Vigilant
against Telephone Scams”, different publicity
activities, including roving exhibitions, public
seminars, mini exhibitions, and community and

school talks, as well as roving drama performances
for schools, were held to remind the public to stay
vigilant of possible telephone scams.
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A promotion truck tour campaign themed “My Promise Against
Phone Scams” was launched in December 2023 to promote
anti-phone scam messages.

In addition, OFCA produced two new sets of
television and radio announcements in the
public interest (APls), namely the SMS Sender
Registration Scheme and the Stay Alert and
Beware of Phone Scam Tricks, which were launched
in February 2024 and April 2024 respectively. The
first set of APls on the SMS Sender Registration
Scheme aims to publicise the features of the
scheme i.e. using sender IDs with the prefix “#” to
send SMS messages to help the public verify the
authenticity of SMS senders, while the second
set of APls is to remind the public to stay alert to
various scam tricks and encourage them to use call-
filtering services and apps to help filter suspected
scam calls. In addition, a promotion truck tour
campaign under the theme “My Promise Against
Phone Scams”, featuring games and exhibits, was
also carried out by visiting different locations
in all 18 districts of Hong Kong in December
2023. Started from January 2024, a series of
roadshows were arranged in different districts in
collaboration with CEDB, various political parties,
LegCo Members and District Council Members to
promote anti-phone scam messages through the
distribution of leaflets and souvenirs to members
of the public. OFCA had also offered assistance
to members of the public who would like to install
relevant call-filtering apps.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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OFCA staff members attended the launching ceremony of
OFCA’s mascot “CommBo”.
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Launch of OFCA’s Mascot “CommbBo”

Following an internal design competition, OFCA
launched its mascot named “CommBo” in March 2024.
Imbued with broadcasting and telecommunications
symbols, the design of CommBo reflects the
regulatory role of OFCA in both the broadcasting
and telecommunications sectors. The mascot made
its debut at a roving exhibition cum launching
ceremony officiated by the Director-General of
Communications on 9 March 2024. As OFCA’s
spokesperson and ambassador, CommBo will
continue to appear in different publicity activities
and social media platforms of OFCA to help convey
to the public information about CA and OFCA, as well
as different messages in relation to the smart use of
communications services.

Other Publicity Activities

To promote the Labelling Scheme for Buildings
with 5G Indoor Coverage, a new set of APIs was
launched in May 2024 with the aim of encouraging
owners or managers of indoor places equipped
with 5G to display the new “Label for Buildings with
5G Indoor Coverage” produced by OFCA. Labels

e "\
Stay Alert and
Beware of
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specially designed for the scheme were produced
for distribution to MNOs for display at places
installed with 5G mobile communications facilities.

Following the full implementation of the RNR
Programme in February 2023, OFCA continues to
carry out publicity to remind the public to complete
SIM card registration with their own original
identity documents through a thematic webpage,
distribution of information leaflets, and publication of
infographics, social media posts, etc. Other messages
also include reminding the public to deregister SIM
cards which are no longer in use, to report loss of
SIM cards immediately and not to purchase
“registered” pre-paid SIM cards from unknown
sources in the market.

Chapter 4 | Facilitating Market Competition and Strengthening Consumer Protection
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OFCA and the Infocomm Media Development Authority of
Singapore held a bilateral meeting in Hong Kong on 27 June 2023.

EHERRER » THESSFATABENBARENE
PR IBAR Y S ALMA o

Bl Py ith By e o BT B Am 3

EMEEREHEARBNSERELHMEAER
ENRERBOZERXAER - FA - BMHEAHEAT
HiE > BREEEEERERE - IRNERLEREE
BE  URBERERERESETEE - LHE (RtE
ERMRBRIERRKEMARNEH) 8%  HAtER
S ERiERARYRIRIETE o BAIRIAE BN E D - 95!
HEFIMRENEERERER - AEREEEEER -
UREMBERBTEEEE - AMNBEBTRRERE
EHENEF - BT EREEERERLSEREN
HEE -

JltH1f

| “ ”nv .nMH”' IIHM !

B RS AR RN 2023F9F 19B EEBRITT

SRR -

OFCA and the Guangdong Communications Administration held
abilateral meeting in Hong Kong on 19 September 2023.
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OFCA met with the delegation of Yunnan Radio
and Television Bureau on 15 November 2023
to exchange issues relating to the broadcasting
regulatory regime.
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OFCA puts strong emphasis on engaging the
community and maintains close ties with international
organisations on industry development and regulatory
matters.

Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA actively participates in the activities of
and maintains close contact with a number of
international and regional organisations, either as
part of the Chinese delegation or as an individual
member of those organisations.

In 2023/24, OFCA attended a total of 13 conferences
and meetings hosted by international and
regional organisations, including ITU, APT, and
International Institute of Communications (I1C).
The more notable events of the year included the
ITU World Radiocommunication Conference 2023,
the Global System for Mobile Communications
Association Mobile World Congress Shanghai, the
16th Session of the General Assembly of APT and
the IIC International Regulators’ Forum. OFCA will
continue to participate in the activities held by
international and regional organisations with the aim

B EBRERME R EEBN2023F 108 ERBEERE
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The Director-General of Communications, Mr Chaucer Leung,
was invited to speak at the International Regulators' Forum
organised by the International Institute of Communications held
in October 2023 in Cologne, Germany.

of exchanging views on international best practices
in regulating the evolving communications sector
as well as promoting Hong Kong’s position as the
pre-eminent hub for telecommunications and
information infrastructures in the Asia Pacific region.

Exchanges with the Mainland and
Overseas Authorities

OFCA regularly shares and exchanges views on
various issues in relation to communications services
with regulatory bodies in other jurisdictions.
During the year, OFCA attended meetings with the
Mainland authorities, including the Yunnan Radio
and Television Bureau, the Bureau of Radio Regulation
of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology and the National Radio and Television
Administration as well as attended Closer Economic
Partnership Arrangement meetings to discuss
relevant liberalisation measures with the Mainland
counterparts. OFCA also hosted bilateral meetings
with the Infocomm Media Development Authority
of Singapore, the Guangdong Communications
Administration of the Mainland and the Post
and Telecommunications Bureau of Macao. To
strengthen the co-operation in the development of
the information industry between Guangdong and
Hong Kong, OFCA also attends the Plenary Meetings
of the Hong Kong/Guangdong Expert Group on
Co-operation in Informatisation regularly.
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OFCA and the Macao Post and Telecommunications Bureau held
a bilateral meeting in Hong Kong on 17 January 2024.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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OFCA shared the achievements in the past year and work plan
in 2024 at a tea gathering with the media in January 2024.
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OFCA gave a talk on “5G Makes the Impossible Possible” at the
“Science in the Public Service” Lecture Series.
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Media and Community Relations

OFCA proactively keeps the public and the media
informed of its work. In 2023/24, OFCA issued
27 press releases on CA’s major decisions in
relation to broadcasting and telecommunications
regulatory issues, updates on OFCA’s major
initiatives, operations and events. Presentations
and press briefings made by the Director-General of
Communications were also published on our website.
OFCA has also maintained its presence on social
media and updates its Facebook account from time
to time. These measures help disseminate messages
from OFCA and the Government to both the industry
and the public, enabling them to gain a better
understanding of our work.

Public Education on
Broadcasting Services

In 2023/24, OFCA gave seven talks on broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to local students of primary
and secondary schools and four talks to participants
of the Community Involvement Broadcasting Service

ié%ﬁﬁf%éﬁi NUBMEHREHED) - MaHRELERZE2H

OFCA participated in the "Mountaineering Safety Promotion
Day" to help promote hiking safety messages.

(CIBS). Students were introduced to the different
categories of television programme services in Hong
Kong and how audience could make informed viewing
choices. The participants of CIBS were briefed on the
programme standards of sound broadcasting services.

Participationin
Communications Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual
“Science in the Public Service” Lecture Series jointly
organised by the Hong Kong Observatory and over
50 government bureaux and departments and
public bodies by giving a talk entitled “5G Makes the
Impossible Possible” on 19 August 2023 at the Hong
Kong Science Museum. At the talk, OFCA introduced
the latest development of 5G in Hong Kong and
shared some of the latest 5G applications in our daily
lives and in some specific sectors.

OFCA also participated in the “Mountaineering
Safety Promotion Day” jointly organised by the Civil
Aid Service and other government departments and
organisations on 22 October 2023. An exhibition
booth was set up at the event to promote effective
use of communications means in country parks.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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Working with the Community and
International Organisations
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The winning teams and guests of the “5G Campus
Application Competition” attended the Competition’s
Award Presentation Ceremony held on 9 December 2023.
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5G Campus Application Competition

With an aim to enhance Hong Kong secondary school
students’ understanding of the enormous potentials
of 5G technology and its extensive innovative
applications, as well as to encourage their active
participation in the development of innovative solutions
with the use of advanced technology, OFCA organised a
5G Campus Application Competition (the Competition)
with the theme of “5G Campus for Smart Life” in
collaboration with the Hong Kong Productivity Council
(HKPC) in 2023. The Competition received a total of
33 submissions from 29 secondary schools. An award
presentation ceremony was held on 9 December 2023
to announce the list of winners.

@AM A TSCREFEAAIFLEE) B2 BBMIRHIEIER
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OFCA conducting a training workshop to assist the
participating teams of the 5G Campus Application
Competition to realise their conceptual ideas into actual
products.

In view of the overwhelming responses to the
Competition, OFCA launched another round of
the Competition under the theme “5G x Al - Smart
Living and Learning Anytime Anywhere” in April 2024.
The Competition, co-organised by HKPC, consists
of several stages, comprising training workshops,

first round assessment and final round assessment
cum award presentation ceremony scheduled for
November 2024.

The Work of
Advisory Committees

Telecommunications Aavisory Committees

To solicit advice on the formulation and implementation
of various telecommunications regulatory measures
and policies, three advisory committees, namely
the Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs Advisory
Committee, the Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
Advisory Committee and the Telecommunications Users
and Consumers Advisory Committee, were formed under
OFCA in June 2012. These committees hold regular
meetings and provide a forum for the exchange of
ideas for the industry, telecommunications service
users and interested parties on issues of concerns.

Members of the advisory committees, appointed on
two-year terms, are drawn from different sectors
of the telecommunications industry, relevant
government departments and non-governmental
organisations, as well as the general public. This
helps provide a balanced representation of views on
issues that are at times highly technical and complex.

The membership lists of the three advisory committees
as of 31 March 2024 can be found in Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The purpose of the Television and Radio Consultative
Scheme is to solicit qualitative input on television
and radio programming to CA’s public consultation
process. Members are drawn from all 18 districts of
the territory.

Chapter 5 | Working with the Community and International Organisations
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Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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OFCA organises management training courses for technical
staff from time to time.
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An Energetic and Versatile
Workforce

To provide professional support to CA in the
regulation of the fast-changing and dynamic
communications industry, OFCA adopts a proactive,
forward-looking and holistic approach to human
resource management and strategic manpower
planning. Organisational reviews are conducted from
time to time to ensure the most effective and efficient
deployment of manpower resources.

OFCA had an energetic and versatile workforce of
468 staff as of 31 March 2024, comprising 346 civil
servants, 117 staff employed on non-civil service
contract terms and five staff employed on post-
retirement service contract terms.

Training and Development

OFCA attaches great importance to the training and
development of staff members and strives to enhance
their professional knowledge and competencies
so that they can cope with the challenges posed by
the rapidly evolving industry environment, such
as emerging new technologies, increasing public
demands and internal driving forces arising from
various initiatives.

A Training and Development Committee has been
established to oversee the implementation of OFCA's
training and development policies for departmental
officers in order to adopt a holistic approach for the
training of staff and to strengthen arrangements for
grooming officers with potential.

A variety of professional and managerial development
courses and in-house training programmes were
organised in 2023/24. These included courses on
law enforcement, technical training, prosecution and
investigation skills, information and communications
technology, leadership, performance management,
human resources management, language and
writing skills, financial management, media and
communications, complaint handling, customer service,
integrity management, occupational safety and health,
emotional and physical wellness, records management,
national studies and the National Security Law. OFCA
continued to sponsor staff members to attend courses
organised by international organisations and overseas
institutions, such as those provided by King’s College
London, ITU and APT to enhance their technical and
professional skills. The trainee count for the year was
1 192 and the training man-day count was 942. OFCA
has been accredited as a “Manpower Developer” by
the “Employee Retraining Board” for our outstanding
achievements in manpower training and development
since 2016.

Chapter 6 | Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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OFCA held an employee outing to Lai Chi Wo, Kat O & Ap Chau
on 16 March 2024.
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OFCA Volunteer Team visited an Elderly Day Care Centre.
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OFCA Volunteer Team participated in the book-sorting activity
under the “BOOKS FOR LOVE @ $10 charity sale!”.



Awards and Commendations

In 2023/24, 15 OFCA staff members received the
Director-General’s Commendation for Long and
Valuable Service, 43 received the Director-General’s
Commendation for Meritorious Service, six received
the Long and Meritorious Service Award, and two
received the 2023/24 Long and Meritorious Service
Travel Award.

Recreational Activities and
Volunteer Services

OFCA regularly organises a variety of staff activities
to advocate for work-life balance and cultivate the

sense of belonging among colleagues.

%%%ﬁ%l%%&ﬂ@@ﬂ&%iﬁ@j » BIEEE BL1E 17 B W S T BR

OFCA Volunteer Team participated in the “Bread Runner”
activity to help collect surplus bread from bakeries.
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OFCA Volunteer Team participated in the shoreline cleaning
at Shek O Beach.

To help staff members develop a healthy lifestyle
and foster the spirit of teamwork, OFCA regularly
organises staff recreational activities including
interest classes, health talks, outings and sports
activities. To show care for our community, OFCA is
active in volunteering and charity events. Set up in
July 2022, the OFCA Volunteer Team has participated
in a wide range of volunteer services including
cleaning of the shoreline, visits to the elderly,
collection of surplus bread, books re-sale and more
for developing a caring and people-oriented service
culture amongst staff. In 2023/24, OFCA has again
been awarded the “Caring Organisation” logo by the
Hong Kong Council of Social Service and the “Social
Capital Builder Logo Award” by the Community
Investment and Inclusion Fund of the Home and
Youth Affairs Bureau, an award held since 2007 and
2016 respectively.

Chapter 6 | Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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Financial Results

2023, 24FEEIFEART Financial Results 2023/24

1. HENNMEEESME » 2023/ 24FER 1. 2023/24 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading
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Fund. This year, the OFCA Trading Fund turned to a
loss of HK$15.0 million from a profit of HK$5.2 million
in 2022/23. For the rate of return on average net fixed
assets (ANFA), it dropped to -48.8%* from -26.7% last
year, which was primarily the result of a decrease in total
revenue and an increase in operating expenditure.

The total revenue at HK$479.4 million was lower than
the amount of HK$489.4 million last year mainly due to
a decrease in revenue from services provided to related
parties, partly offset by an increase in interest income
from bank deposits.

On the expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by
2.1% to HK$494.4 million in 2023/24 mainly due to an
increase in staff costs.

*BEEETHERREZUBREZERE (T8
(WNEREE) FBWAMF R H) RUBEEE
FEFERABMENEN R EEEERCEY
R REREMNELEE-

* Therate of returnon ANFA is calculated as total comprehensive income
(excluding, if any, interest income and interest expenses) divided by
average net fixed assets, and expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets
include property, plant and equipment and intangible assets only.

BEE | MERR
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2023, 24FEEIFEART Financial Results 2023/24
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Highlights of the financial performance:

WA

it

(B518) " &¥

EE B E TR ERREK

XA Revenue

h#BBE Licence fees

2023/24 2022/23

BE#AT BEAT

HK$'m HK$'m

Revenue 479.4 489.4
Expenditure 494.4 484.2
(Loss)/Profit (15.0) 5.2
Rate of return on ANFA -48.8% -26.7%

BR#5 & Service charges

83.9% (82.2%)

3 i Expenditure

BT Staff

5.6% (8.8%)

FEUA Interest income
10.3% (8.5%)

18 Miscellaneous
0.2% (0.5%)

%38 Operation
13.3% (14.1%)

81.5% (81.3%)

*FESEN 2022, 23EEHT

& K #4884 Depreciation & amortisation
4.5% (4.4%)

EERS Consultancy
0.7% (0.2%)

In parentheses are 2022/23 figures

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Report of the Director of Audit

Audit Commission
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Legislative Council

Opinion

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial
statements of the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund set out on pages 65 to 98, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund as at 31 March 2024, and of its results
of operations and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the manner provided in section 7(4) of the
Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430).

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the
Trading Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing
standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auaitor’s respornsibriiities rfor the auait of the
1inanc/al statements section of my report. | am independent of
the Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund in
accordance with those standards, and | have fulfilled my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards.
| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Report of the Director of Audit

Responsibilities of the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund for the financial statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund is responsible for the preparation
of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
section 7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund is
responsible for assessing the Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Audit
Commission auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results
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Report of the Director of Audit

As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit Commission
auditing standards, | exercise professional judgment and maintain
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professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control;

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund’s internal control;

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund;
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Report of the Director of Audit

— conclude on the appropriateness of the General
Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
| am required to draw attention in my auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund to cease to continue as a going concern;
and

— evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the General Manager, Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
ininternal control that | identify during my audit.

4. (Aol

Terry Mok
Assistant Director of Audit
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission

6th Floor, High Block
Queensway Government Offices
66 Queensway

Hong Kong

13 September 2024
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CE T e Financial Statements
2ERER Statement of Comprehensive Income
#E20244F 38310 L FE for the year ended 31 March 2024
(LB FTLMANT) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

ﬂqftie 2024 2023
KEHERAHZBA Revenue from contracts with customers 4 429,223 445829
EBIERA Operating costs 5 (494,405) (484,245)
E{FR51E Loss from operations (65,182) (38,416)
Hg A Other income 6 50,189 43,573
FE (BB &80 (Loss)/Profit for the year (14,993) 5,157
Hin2mikas Other comprehensive income — —
FEE2HE (5FE) k& Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (14,993) 5,157
ElE & ERRE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 -48.8% -26.7%

HE69EISEMIMIET AR TEIRKRM—EE5 © The notes on pages 69 to 98 form part of these financial statements.

BEE | MERR




LR ES
BAFSHRRER

$2202453H31H
(KB FTltFT)

IFRENEE

M ~ REREM
EREEE
|EE
NEEZEFR

REEE
FEMIRTR R HL fth FEUYRIR
FEURRE AN L IRAR
RSN ER S ERFAE

HAFEWKF] S
NEEEEFR
RITER

RE RIBITHEER

mREMEIR

FEAT RN R HLAth FE A 7R
RERRERREE
BEREH#H
FEASRRE A L IRSR
EEW A

HE&E

REEERE
REERERBAR
FREBEGE
EEW A

HEaE
BE R #E

FEE

BARMEHE
EEEASER
BRGEE
REEF

RPE
BAEREERMAE
EEATKIE
2024%9K13H

EB69FISHEMIMET A A BIRRN—ED -

2023/24 Trading Fund Report &EESREE

Financial Statements

Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 March 2024
(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Placement with the Exchange Fund

Current assets

Trade and other receivables

Amounts due from related parties

Interest receivable from placement with the
Exchange Fund

Other interest receivable

Placement with the Exchange Fund

Bank deposits

Cash and bank balances

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Provision for restitution claims
Provision for employee benefits
Amounts due to related parties
Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Provision for employee benefits

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Trading fund capital
Development reserve
Retained earnings

o

Chaucer Leung
General Manager,

FiEE
Note

8
9(a)

10

11

12,13(a)
20

14
20
13(b)
9(b)

13(b)
9(b)

15
16
17

Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund

13 September 2024

The notes on pages 69 to 98 form part of these financial statements.

2024 2023
126,883 127,804
9,859 14,573
4,590 5,657
510,847 500,000
652,179 648,034
811 2,203

= 6,076
4,699 5,493
14,077 9,175
= 102,073
702,300 500,700
5,072 2,846
726,959 628,566
20,447 17,314
— 662
8,977 12,554
33,608 34,718
266,044 139,025
4,800 4,690
333,876 208,963
393,083 419,603
1,045,262 1,067,637
97 189
5,374 10,174
66,217 68,707
71,688 79,070
973,574 988,567
212,400 212,400
690,165 690,165
71,009 86,002

973,574

988,567
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BFSERR Financial Statements

EREER Statement of Changes in Equity

B E20245F3H31HLEE for the year ended 31 March 2024

(BN TFTlEH ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FEER Balance at beginning of year 988,567 983,410
FEE2HE (FE) & Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (14,993) 5,157

FIRER Balance at end of year 973,574 988,567

69 BEMMIFEAARMFEIRKRMN—EBS ° The notes on pages 69 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

#E202453831HIFE for the year ended 31 March 2024
(LB TFT P T) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
[fisE
Note 2024 2023
EEERZRAESRE Cash flows from operating activities
EEEHE Loss from operations (65,182) (38,416)
FARIER - Adjustments for:
HEIEWA Sundry income 574 2,163
HE FRIEME ~ RERR (Gain) / Loss on disposals of property, plant and (24) 25
MEy (lkk) R equipment
M RBERBMINE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15,754 14,692
EREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,714 5,378
ER B EHE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,696 1,141
HEaENFIEZH Interest expenses on lease liabilities 390 78
FEWIRI R EtFEREIERY (1) Decrease/ (Increase) in trade and other receivables 1,391 (1,311)
FEMRBEA LIRSS (Eh0) Decrease/ (Increase) in amounts due from related parties 6,076 (5,983)
FEfSIRFR EAbFEFUERI, (B4  Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 1,064 (472)
FE(SRBEA LIRS GRIZY /18 (Decrease) / Increase in amounts due to related parties (1,107) 1,823
IEIEWAIE M, G Increase / (Decrease) in deferred income 126,927 (64,976)
EETEFEERD Decrease in provision for employee benefits (6,067) (2,441)
IRER R B R R 2 (T RIFIE Amount paid on settlement of restitution claims (662) —
SEIEERE, (FrA) IREFFE  Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities 85,544 (88,299)
KBREEBZRERE Cash flows from investing activities
NEESEFIURD () Decrease/ (Increase) in placement with the Exchange Fund 91,226 (31,928)
FEEHRA =B U EERT (Increase) / Decrease in bank deposits with original (201,600) 90,100
= (gm R maturities over three months
BEYE  RERIMINER Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and (13,396) (9,764)
BHE intangible assets
HE FRIEME  RERSEM Net proceeds from disposals of property, plant and 25 7
FriS/ 358 equipment
BKFE Interest received 45,507 35,636
12EI1EE (FRA) /FRISIAEBEE  Netcash (used in) / from investing activities (78,238) 84,051
MEERZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
T HEEERE Payments of lease liabilities 9(b) (5,080) (5,520)
FMEIEEMARERE Net cash used in financing activities (5,080) (5,520)
RERERMEEM~ GEY) Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 2,226 (9,768)
FEE equivalents
FNNRERERRE Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 6,546 16,314
FRNFAERERRS

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18 8,772 6,546

FE69FIBEMMIFT AR FEIMEKRM—IBS © The notes on pages 69 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
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7SRk Financial Statements

BATSERIRMIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(IRIFFYZBTSN + B % B2 E I F Tl © ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)
1. {856 1. General

I ERBELI995F5A10A KR (EEREE
f&BI) (55430F) 253 « 4AR6MFEBRE
R1995F6A1AMUBRERER (BFHRE)
EEET  BHNREEESREE2012F
A1 RAMERN CEBMEHBEERKG)
(3$6616%) HE25KHNRE - RKEBEH®
B2k TBREBEERMAE (GEMM
EEEE (EEER) - BAEHEER
GBR) 2Rz CEREBEERGEA)
BUILBYEEHAE - @R 2B R T
#BFI - BB B EEREMAT (EREH)
(3562&) ~ (EHE (HIEEX) &)
(8391%)  (BAREHEERMKH) -
(BEIEAED) (F106E) ~ (FEEHAE

ARMEGD (58593F) - UK (BERA
&) (%362F) 1 (HMFHEH) (58
6198) - WARBIEBRBEMEGBITEM
B - EEEASREBENE BRI THRERA
(BR) NEBRRERER  EEMB
BEEET - BF

(a) BIARFSEERRFBHIZRENRE

(b) EBERBIRLER ;

(c) MEM » EERRERASEEMBATR
HEERH  ERBIMSIRARTS

(d) BEERMIZENEREEERS LETHRA
(.
(e) BfT (FEFEBREFARMER) ; UKk

() FEREALE S LIRNA P EET AN
EITATHE -

BEE | MERR

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA)
Trading Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under the
Legislative Council Resolution passed on 10 May 1995
pursuant to sections 3, 4 and 6 of the Trading Funds
Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section 25 of the
Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap. 616)
which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the OFTA Trading
Fund was renamed as the Office of the Communications
Authority (OFCA) Trading Fund (the Fund) on the same date.
The OFCA serves as the executive arm of the Communications
Authority (CA), which is a statutory body set up under the
CAO to administer and enforce the Broadcasting Ordinance
(Cap. 562), the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAO, the Telecommunications
Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap. 593), as well as the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362) and the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), and to perform any function under
or by virtue of any Ordinance. The Fund, which is under the
policy portfolio of the Commerce and Economic Development
Bureau of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the Government), supports the
principal activities of the CA, as follows:

(a) licensing and regulating telecommunications services and
broadcasting services;

(b) managing Hong Kong's radio frequency spectrum;

(c) providing advisory, planning and support services on
telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming
matters to the Government;

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the
Government on international affairs;

(e) enforcing the UEMO; and

(f) ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and
fair competition in relation to telecommunications and
broadcasting sectors.
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2. EXEEER

(a) FEZERIZEHR

T BHRRERBRERLTRNEFHRAK
EBAMBREEN (LAZRE > EhE
EEAGFMAERMIAAEERER
ERAMBREER ERGHERRE
) R - EEESHMHNEATHER
FUEE -

BEGFMAEET T & TG EIEET

NERAMBRESENENASHHAERE

M PR RIS - EER SR ERR

H @A 2RI 5 | BT A M 53Rk S bR

RS AT E AN G ST BRI E
(408) WIRHMIEES -

R B IRV ERE
AU BRERNRERERGURERAE

SHE o

REGEEBMHRSENOMFREK
FEEEEFLIE - EHRER - ZF
HER - SRR BRRECEGHRENE
it UREE -~ & - RANHEHE &K
TREE o R FMFTRABRIBIRER » RN
R R EMEERER THRESEENE
RMBIET - MELBEEMRAEBFHS
Z - AERAZFMFRBRRESHIEE
WEERBRNIREENER - AFHER
NERBREERHRAE -

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), a collective term
which includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Fund are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new or revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Fund. Note 3 provides
information on the changes, if any, in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments
to the extent that they are relevant to the Fund for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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B TR ER R Financial Statements
RS ERRMIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(RIFFYZ TN + 5B BIILE R F T i) o) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)
2. ERGHIEER 75 2. Material accounting policies (continued)
(b) IRELBITRIRFRIERE 5 (b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued)
ZEGHREMGBENRSSESER The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
5 o MMESTHEE ARG - SEEHE on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
FTRVEAARERR - (Bl ERAR KRN G recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
FHHR - ARMEEI S EZEI R R KREAB A if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
58 o the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

EEESEERSHBER AR RS RE There are no critical accounting judgments involved in
IRABRRY B 5T HIEN - MR RRMELINR the application of the Fund’s accounting policies. There
% REBRSHETHEREPFAEENREA are also no key assumptions concerning the future,
BRI » EFRBUBHREKRER - & or other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
ENaENIREmETEREKGES - reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the next year.

(c) W% ~ RtERM (c) Property, plant and equipment
MR1995F6 B 1 HMEEEESHME The property, plant and equipment appropriated to the
LEEREM > RYNBKRNERREIER Fund on 1 June 1995 were measured initially at deemed
FriEB s ER SRS P FRE (hE cost equal to the value contained in the Legislative Council
AR - B1995F 6B 1HEHEBSNYE - Resolution for the setting up of the Fund. Property, plant
LB RIMGIREER A AR © and equipment acquired since 1 June 1995 are capitalised

at the actual costs incurred.

THHE ~ RERBMIBEEREAEIIRE The following items of property, plant and equipment
SHrEREMRESESIR (MEE2() : are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (note 2(f)):

— BERMETHEEE K - leasehold land and buildings held for own use; and

— HfEREE - OIEERERERE « B - plant and equipment, including telecommunications
2R A  BEE R ER © and broadcasting equipment, computer systems,

furniture, fixtures and motor vehicles.

NERKRREWE - RERBANMGEH Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items

FREH > EREEMGHRGE  BUE of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated

IREEHEERAE BRNGHYTERSE residual value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated

ARG - useful lives as follows:

BEE | MERR
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2. EXEEHEE B

(c) ¥1% ~ Rf5REM (#)

- FHELH RIBMIRIBRERRSTE
- (IREELH IRFEGEEFHR
HEE AFEREAME S
HNEBEETE
- BRifE 5EF124
- BEEXEHK 54

- REARKE 5%
- EH 5%

HE EIHME « REBERBMATELNIE
BREUHERSRRBSREERAECE
FREE - WNHE REEAEZEK
MRARER ©

(d) 8&

HEENHEERBEMBRRRTHERS
EREEERENHEEER - EIREE
HREREAIUTHEREEREEBEER
ERENERANEE T HERANERE
SPAZEBESE

EREEEGHRMAENRETITERR
EEETE (M5 2(f) - AERREE
HIAEREENGA A EREAREHR
BIEE U ERAINE -

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued))

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

- Leasehold land over the unexpired term of lease

- Buildings situatedon  over the shorter of the unexpired

leasehold land term of lease and their useful
lives
- Equipment 5to 12 years
- Computer systems S5vyears

- Furniture and fixtures 5 years

- Motor vehicles 5vyears

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on the date of disposal.

Leases

A lease is recognised in the statement of financial
position as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding
lease liability at the lease commencement date, except
that payments associated with short-term leases having
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value
assets are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

A right-of-use asset is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (note 2(f)). The right-
of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s estimated
useful life.
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(d) BE #)

HERRREEEREIEERIERN
REFE - BURERIMRAER - Sd
ZARRBERETE - AJUEEEDABEEE
MARFR - HERBEHRREERER
REF R I AREERE - UREZ
BB R ENERTEHEEEFT M2
MEHFTEFHRARE -

BT EE

BENEECRBANERTGFERERE
BERMLHEBRRFIEXFMAEMAE - W0
BEREFEENERMLEATT  MEER
TEEANERRBEEMMAEIF
BRNFARERERERL - BEXLER
BEERTIERMNER - BREERM
KAEHFRRF #E R E AR EBEYR
(BFEE2(f)) ©

BN EENBERSEE12FNEEMET
AIERFRUERETAZERERSR

IFERMEENRE

FERMEE (BEME - RERBEM &
REEENETLEE) NIREETHRSEE
S - UEER S HIRRERR

BEE | MERR

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(e)

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Fund’s incremental
borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently
adjusted by the effect of the interest on and the
settlement of the lease liability, and the remeasurement
arising from any reassessment of lease liability or
lease modification.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer software
licences and capitalised development costs of computer
software programs. Expenditure on development
of computer software programs is capitalised if
the programs are technically feasible and the Fund
has sufficient resources and intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes
direct labour and cost of materials. Intangible assets are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses (note 2(f)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives of 5 to 12 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets, are reviewed at the reporting date to
identify any indication of impairment.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued))

(f)

(g)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Initial recognition and measurement

The Fund’s financial assets comprise placement with
the Exchange Fund, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, interest
receivables, bank deposits, and cash and bank
balances.

The Fund’s financial liabilities comprise trade and
other payables, provision for restitution claims,
amounts due to related parties and lease liabilities.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial
liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial
recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities are
measured at fair value plus or minus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets or the issue of the financial liabilities.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

The Fund classifies all financial assets as subsequently
measured at amortised cost using effective interest
method, on the basis that they are held within a
business model whose objective is to hold them
for collection of contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest. The measurement of
loss allowances for financial assets is based on
the expected credit loss model as described in note
2(g)(iv).
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. EXGFHER #7)

(g) THEERERMER &)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) PR HERNFE #)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

BRMNXRARH ECHEENEME
BRI AE  URESMNERE
FHE A B AR HB A IE -
B2 THEEN S
BEEERHBEANEF RS -
RN EHMEENRERENZE
MEENBENAERERNME
R AFERSHAFERERAXE -
EERZERMITENRE SRR
HEREERE  EFEEEANEE
518 - AR R EERE R KM
MREKRBREHXTFEHNEAE
ER -XEAARMEHEMBER
ireg -

EEEATRHMETHERsERE
BRUBBRARERBIHNAENE
WIS & EIRMEE2(d) FTdiEt & -

EEACETEEREMEENER
BAHFEHE TS EHEESE
Mo eRMBETFEFRSE

(iii) EXEHMERR
ETREERBRTAENGE
FMEmE > ARECHEEEREEE

BIFRE X E E R K O3k B R EE -
ZEREE G WA -

EARIERANEBRER - BUHSE
HAE} - e R E WA INREER
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The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating
and recognising the interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the
financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Fund estimates the expected
cash flows by considering all contractual terms of
the financial instrument but does not consider the
expected credit losses. The calculation includes
all fees received or paid between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.

The Fund classifies all financial liabilities as
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method, except for lease
liabilities as stated in note 2(d).

The Fund reclassifies a financial asset when
and only when it changes its business model for
managing the asset. A financial liability is not
reclassified.

(i) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial
asset together with substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged
or cancelled, or when it expires.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. EXGFEER &)

(g) EMEEREREE #)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) SR EEMRE (iv) Impairment of financial assets

EEESHMREHEMAETEN SR
BE (BKIERRN) RABE=E
PEERHERL Y S AT ETEIE B RIS -
i e FRAE FERY S 1R IR IR R R (B S 18
FEE > MEREEBEENTEER
BURI BRI NEE AlRE
1 :

B—FEER - 12A B TEHAEEGR

EBYIRERLCE - EMTANEE
[\ B it KRG N - R EATREREE S
BRRRERSHR12EB AT EESR
EHENEMS I BHNRAEEBEN
B8 F IARESR ©

B - RHTREEBE - IFE
BiRE

EBEVMERUER  EMTANEE
EREAIEEN - BAIEEERE > 2
MEREEER (RREE/MITAN
BB MR E AR ERNENSE
HEIMMTRIEEBR) FURER -

The Fund applies a three-stage approach to measure
expected credit losses on financial assets (other than
trade receivables) measured at amortised cost and
to recognise the corresponding loss allowances and
impairment losses or reversals, with the change in
credit risk since initial recognition determining the
measurement bases for expected credit losses:

Stage 1: 12-month expected credit losses

For financial instruments for which there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the portion of the lifetime expected credit
losses that represent the expected credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date are recognised.

Stage 2: Lifetime expected credit losses - not credit
impaired

For financial instruments for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but that are not credit impaired,
lifetime expected credit losses representing the
expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the financial
instruments are recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. EXGFEER 2

(g) EMEERERERE )

2. Material accounting policies (continued)
(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) ERBEERRE )

BREER  2RBEEHE-FE
HE

ETMIAEBRFEEERE 27
HAEEGIE T URESR - 7 RUWARIR
R B FRF SRR S A E T IF IR E 48
(EE

FEMIRR B R B IR —ERFRRN
EHRNREEHEENSERE -

T E EE AN

ASERSH EERSELBTH
TERBREARRMEZBERT
HTRHRE IR HIRENRIERR - L
FEEMTANGERRESKIEE
meBRFLEERUETHEREE
HNER - LR AREENEY - 55
F-EHSN-EHRESHEENG
AARRBEEREBEANZENEN
ZEMBEEERTEREBELEER
& o

EERSEANRFEER LGB
IRERUREERRE S KRG
meMFEFHEME - TRMITAEH
EEERRSENEERE  TEE
®REER ~ EERRFTR R EMER

BEE | MERR

Stage 3: Lifetime expected credit losses - credit
impaired

For financial instruments that have become credit
impaired, lifetime expected credit losses are
recognised and interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost rather than the gross carrying amount.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Derermining s(enificant mcreases /17 creait 11sk

At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for financial instruments since initial recognition
by comparing the risk of default occurring over the
remaining expected life as at the reporting date
with that as at the date of initial recognition. The
assessment considers quantitative and qualitative
historical information as well as forward-looking
information. A financial asset is assessed to be
credit impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

The Fund assesses whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition on an individual or collective basis.
For collective assessment, financial instruments
are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, taking into account investment type,
credit risk ratings and other relevant factors.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)
2. Material accounting policies (continued))

(g) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Placements with banks with an external credit
rating of investment grade are considered to have
a low credit risk. Other financial instruments are
considered to have a low credit risk if they have a
low risk of default and the counterparty or borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term. The credit risk on
these financial instruments is assessed as not having
increased significantly since initial recognition.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written
off against the related loss allowance. Such assets
are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Measurement of expected crealt losses

Expected credit losses of a financial instrument are an
unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over
the expected life of the financial instrument. A cash
shortfall is the difference between the cash flows
due to the Fund in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Fund expects to receive. For a
financial asset that is credit impaired at the reporting
date, the Fund measures the expected credit losses
as the difference between the asset's gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective
interest rate.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results




RAFSAR .

Financial Results

RAFSERER
MR RMGE

(BRIFFIZ PN + P 2T BN T L) °)

2. EXGFEER 2

(h) EZEHZA

FEBERETNEREERTN - E&FF
HE - NEER SR BIRFE9ER
WEGZAE - ERESNARRRAIEL
WA - BEERERZE P EERFILE
IEITERNEER - @E3EERME
FEM AN SRR A ©

WA BESR

EERSARITRE P EERAGRTR
RUEEREREEER GHEKA -
SEAHEEE TR IREIRTS A 1
ERRESE -

F B WA SR B BHIS AL FEST 5 TURERR -

HAth A SR FEST ERERERR -

BEmREH

SERSHNREEUEAHKERGHES -
e e ERFRAIERERHE
BRI FE P LA FES T B AEREER AR ©
MABEMS @ BENEREM R EER
HRR#HTRENRAREREREEH -
HEREREREERRBIFESE -

MFEAZERAREERRBNABERES
BEEERNZNFHAEMNHIER
x5 - EMES R ARSI
HREEZERBERARE -
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(h)

Deferred income

If a customer pays consideration, or the Fund has
an unconditional right to consideration, before the
Fund transfers a service to the customer, the Fund
recognises its contract liability as deferred income.
The Fund derecognises the deferred income and
recognises revenue when the Fund transfers the
service and, therefore, satisfies its performance
obligation.

Revenue recognition

The Fund recognises revenue from contracts with
customers when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring a promised service to a customer, at the
amount of consideration to which the Fund expects to be
entitled in exchange for the service.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants and
contract staff. Salaries, staff gratuities and annual leave
entitlements are accrued and recognised as expenditure
in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by the staff. For civil servants, staff on-costs, including
pensions and housing benefits provided to the staff by the
Government, are charged as expenditure in the year in
which the associated services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their
pension liabilities are discharged by reimbursement of the
staff on-cost charged by the Government. For other staff,
contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are charged to the statement of comprehensive income
asincurred.
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(k) BEAL

LERSREIRE (EEESKA) ML -
BRBAE TN —ERIIGTEMN - FF
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FEALETRS - HASESRERR
KATERFT ~ HthEEE S - MR BATA

EHRHAREBEERZENNMREE
HrE o
HISE

FRAMNBREBEMNRZERZ ANRE
EXRGERET - FETHENEREE
RBEHUREANKTERRESE
T NNERBEELENERKRRBEEE
EEUREIER PR

(m) RERFREE

ReRFARSBERERIRITHERS
MR BERMREESNEMIRE - %F
REFRERERASENSENES - B
SRNEEZFAMAKA - LEHEAREE
FHAE BB =MEA -

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued))

(k) Related parties

()

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the
Government established under the Trading Funds
Ordinance. During the year, the Fund has entered into
transactions with various related parties, including
government bureaux and departments, other trading
funds and financially autonomous bodies controlled
or significantly influenced by the Government, in the
ordinary course of its business.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars using the spot
exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Hong
Kong dollars are translated into Hong Kong dollars using
the closing exchange rate at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank
balances, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months
of maturity at acquisition.

Chapter 7 | Financial Results




RAFSAR .

Financial Results

RAFSERER
MR RMGE

(BRIFFIZ PN + P 2T BN T L) °)

2. EXGFEER 2
(n) BERAEEM

MEERTAMNBRENEHRIEELR
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3. BEtERYE

ERGFAE RS T ETHIGSEIEFTH
ERAMBREENTNREEESHN RGN
BREN - BARAMBHRRAMEBFE
BETEER - MARREE LR RMA A -

EEEDWRBRMEFATRETHRHERE
MEFTEER SR (95 23) -
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

2. Material accounting policies (continued)

(n) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Fund has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

3. Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain new or revised HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Fund. There have been no changes to the accounting policies
applied in these financial statements for the years presented
as a result of these developments.

The Fund has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period
(note 23).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

4. Revenue from contracts with customers

2024 2023

EERE
MR — Rt
MR —5A
EREERRE
mEEATRARE (H5220(a))

HIEWA

EERETXEENRBERMAITSEESG -
BiE (EREAD) Kk (BFEE) - EEFR
EERTREGHNNEBRNER  TESREMR
BHERRGHZEBMANRESTE - FHEKE
AEARARBE  -LEEERSEEREAM
RFBHIREET T BOEME - LIAERERE
KRR ARTS &

ERERZEALRHBEBN RS RS - X
RARIEENRERY - EEEE2ERM
BRRFNERET T BNEME - WiRKO
SER AR RIBER R R AR TS & -

5. E(ER &

Telecommunications licence fees

Licences - Public 323,852 321,693
Licences - Private 39,392 38,896
Broadcasting licence fees 38,847 41,951
Services provided to related 26,842 43,006
parties (note 20(a))
Miscellaneous revenue 290 283

429,223 445,829

The Fund supports the CA to administer and enforce various
ordinances including the Broadcasting Ordinance and the
Telecommunications Ordinance. The Fund’s performance
obligations in contracts with customers mainly involve licensing
and regulating telecommunications services and broadcasting
services. A licensee is required to pay service fee in advance.
The Fund satisfies its performance obligation as the service is
rendered and recognises the fee over time on a straight-line basis.

For advisory and project, and frequency assignment
and protection services provided to related parties, the
Fund satisfies its performance obligation as the service is
rendered and recognises a service fee over time on a full
cost recovery basis.

5. Operating costs

2024 2023
BT A Staff costs 403,105 393,573
WAEMH A Accommodation costs 21,438 20,993
EERX Operating expenses 39,757 41,090
TR Administrative expenses 3,863 5,675
EER & Consultancy fees 3,320 973
M RERBMITE Depreciation of property, plant 15,754 14,692

and equipment

EREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,714 5,378
A AN Amortisation of intangible assets 1,696 1,141
BEHR Audit fees 758 730

494,405 484,245

Chapter 7 | Financial Results




RAFSAR .

Financial Results

TSR R Financial Statements
A5 ERIRMIEE Notes to the Financial Statements
(RIFFYZ TN + 5B BIILE R F T i) o) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)
6. HttgA 6. Other income
FEWA Interest income from
NEEEEFER Placement with the 19,269 29,548
Exchange Fund
BITER Bank deposits 30,290 11,855
IRITIEER Bank balances 56 7
49,615 41,410
HIEKA Sundry income 574 2,163
50,189 43573
7. Bl & ERIRE 7. Rate of return on fixed assets
EEEEDREIZEUREZAKE (FEIE The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total
(INEMEE) FEWAFFEZTH) BRUE comprehensive income (excluding, if any, interest income and
ETEETHFERFSEFRENESER - BE interest expenses) divided by average net fixed assets, and
EEROEYE  RERBUHNERLEE - expressed as a percentage. Fixed assets include property,
HFBEERIBE (EEESEH)) FoEE plant and equipment and intangible assets only. The Fund is
T A EESTLUEINSEREEEE expected to meet a target rate of return on fixed assets of
BiZE#REA52% (20234F : 5.2%) - 5.2% per year (2023: 5.2%) as determined by the Financial

Secretary under section 6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

8. Property, plant and equipment

Ttk
BE B4

FAR
EE R K]E HiF fazE
Furniture

Computer and Motor
systems fixtures vehicles

Land and

buildings Equipment

Rz
1R2022%481H
B

HE 5
112023%3A31H

12023F481H
NE

HE B
1£202453A31H

REHRE
12022%481H

FAIFE
HE, K EH

R2023%3H31H

1R2023%4A1H
FRINE

HE S
$2202453H31H
WRER(E
12024538310
72023538310

Cost

At 1 April 2022
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2023

At 1 April 2023
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2024

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2022
Charge for the year

Written back on disposals
At 31 March 2023

At 1 April 2023

Charge for the year
Written back on disposals
At 31March 2024

Net book value
At 31 March 2024
At 31 March 2023

220,243 79,365 53,114 54,219 6,679 413,620
- 884 4,386 - 1,670 6,940

- 3 (1,546) (12) (872) (2,433)
220,243 80,246 55,954 54,207 7477 418,127
220,243 80,246 55,954 54,207 7477 418,127
- 7,437 7,068 - 328 14,833

- (395) (295) - (172) (862)
220,243 87,288 62,727 54,207 7,633 432,098
118,165 62,792 42,754 50,153 4,143 278,007
4,849 4,016 3,576 1,180 1,071 14,692

- 3 (1,489) (12) (872) (2,376)
123,014 66,805 44,841 51,321 4,342 290,323
123,014 66,805 44,841 51,321 4,342 290,323
4,849 4,539 4,160 1,085 1,121 15,754

- (395) (295) - (172) (862)
127,863 70,949 48,706 52,406 5,291 305,215
92,380 16,339 14,021 1,801 2,342 126,883
97,229 13,441 11,113 2,886 3,135 127,804
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

9. Leases

(a) Right-of-use assets

5743
4
ENtERERRE
FHR

REHRE
F4
FRIE
FH

IRERE
FH

2024 2023
Cost
At beginning of year 30,216 32,271
Remeasurement of lease liabilities — (2,055)
Atend of year 30,216 30,216

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year 15,643 10,265
Charge for the year 4,714 5,378
Atend of year 20,357 15,643

Net book value
Atend of year 9,859 14,573

(b) Lease liabilities

ME
L2

TRETHERENES - SFRERIF

2024 2023
Current 4,800 4,690
Non-current 5,374 10,174

10,174 14,864

The table below shows changes in lease liabilities, including

REeBE - both cash and non-cash changes.
2024 2023
F4 At beginning of year 14,864 22,361
REMERESRENEE ! Changes from financing
cash flows:
SfHHEaR Payments of lease liabilities (5,080) (5,520)
JEIREEH) Non-cash changes:
AEaEmiELE Interest expense on lease 390 78
liabilities
ENEtEHEAE Remeasurement of lease — (2,055)
liabilities
FH&

BEE | MERR

At end of year 10,174 14,864
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(BRIFRYZ TN + B %LU E T T it d o) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)
9. HE #&) 9. Leases (continued)
(b) HHE&E #B) (b)Lease liabilities (continued)
HESENRESHERRYIEHWNT - B The remaining contractual maturities of lease liabilities,
HREIRIBFESWRMIENIRESREIE - which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows,

are shown below:

—FRN Within one year 5,040 5,080
—FREMERN After one year but within 5,040 5,040
two years
MEREBRERN After two years but within 420 5,460
five years
AFEHR After five years — —
10,500 15,580
(c) AeEKBIRAEZRNEEEBANEZH (c) Expense items in relation to leases recognised in the
IHH statement of comprehensive income
HEaGENAELH Interest expense on lease 390 78
liabilities
(d) FAERES R ELE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
ployZs 2023

HEaR Lease liabilities 5,080 5,520
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

NEEEEFENEERBS5EL84.7TEET

(2023 : 618207.3887T) - HA5EHE
7t (20234 : 41%8,0008 %) REE
1,084. 788 (2023%F : 1182,207.38
B) BERSHEAREHKERHY
FE - RERBIAE (BERBIES) -
HAR R EERENA SR -

NEEEEFERFEEEBFIAEENEER
X5H - ZEXDESREEGBEEN
FHFEERERR - A=FHBIFEHFTEL
—EFENTEEERE  UREPFERSE
A% TIR#0% © 2024FFEF2023BER
BEERRGBEBEIT%

BEE | MERR

10. B EE 10. Intangible assets
Bl FEERRNHEER
Computer software licences and system development costs
ployZi 2023
9% Cost
F4) At beginning of year 22,121 18,257
NE Additions 629 3,877
HE FEEH Disposals (19) (13)
Fi& Atend of year 22,731 22,121
L g Accumulated amortisation
T4 At beginning of year 16,464 15,336
FEREH Charge for the year 1,696 1,141
HE FHEH[OE Written back on disposals (19) (13)
F& Atend of year 18,141 16,464
IREFE Net book value
Fi& Atend of year 4,590 5,657
11. NEE R ER 11. Placement with the Exchange Fund

The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund
amounted to HK$510,847,000 (2023: HK$602,073,000),
being the principal sum of HK$500,000,000 (2023:
HK$480,000,000) plus interest paid but not yet
withdrawn at the reporting date of HK$10,847,000
(2023: HK$122,073,000). The term of the placement is six
years from the date of placement, during which the amount
of principal sum cannot be withdrawn.

Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate
determined every January. The rate is the average annual
investment return of the Exchange Fund’s Investment
Portfolio for the past six years or the average annual yield of
three-year Government Bond for the previous year subject
to a minimum of zero percent, whichever is the higher.
The interest rate has been fixed at 3.7% per annum for the
calendar years 2024 and 2023.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

12. Trade and other receivables

2024 2023

FEIIRTR
TRIRIE
e RHEMEKRIA

13. REFRHIGHIEER

(a) FEMIRRREHNEE

BB RENRE A E - RSB
FEMOIR R BV REBRTEFIEE 12 2 5 B FEUR
R - EERS W EEMESNEE -

(b) EHETRE

EEES M EHRTFANRIANFEHRE
RUBRFBHEME - EMHERREANZY
FHEFEWIA ©

Trade receivables 210 39
Advance payments 448 483
Deposits and other receivables 153 1,681

(a)

811 2,203

13. Contract balances with customers

Receivables and contract assets

For services provided to licensees, the balance of receivables
at the reporting date is presented as trade receivables in
note 12. The Fund does not have any contract assets.

Contract liabilities

The Fund’s obligations to provide services to licensees
for which the Fund has received advance payments
from the licensees are presented as deferred income in
the statement of financial position.

2024 2023

e
L2

—IRME - FHEREATERERE
MR HEBRERRBE RN RS EE L
RNBFARNERRE - TEEHEDN
RREARNENE - H1IEF205EF
F o EREHELEERHRERAEH
BTHEIRE - BRRRAIERERHIE
SREE - TR RRR B AEET 1LY B HUAS
ERIT - MO MBRNEREESMER
R—2x -

Current 266,044 139,025
Non-current 97 189
266,141 139,214

In general, licensees are required to pay licence fees
upon issue of the licence, and on each anniversary
thereafter during the validity period of the licences.
Period of validity for each type of licence varies,
ranging from 1 to 20 years. When a licensee does not
pay licence fee on an anniversary date, the licence
may be suspended or revoked and the contract with
the licensee would become unenforceable. For certain
types of licences, licence fees are to be paid biennially.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

13. HERNSHNIEE 2
(b) GRAME )

13. Contract balances with customers (continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

EERAGGREEAERSASHER

The balances of deferred income represent the

BT (JERKRETT) BHEER
RZENE - HRESWMFRER— R
RE  SEESHEHEMFEARIZ
FEERABBA - EREMIEZR
A EERSTHBME-—FANIERS
WA - REEAKREEREGNHNE

aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated
to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied
(or partially satisfied) at the reporting date. For
the deferred income from biennial licence fees,
the Fund expects to recognise as revenue within
two years. For other deferred income, the Fund

FRINAR BB o expects to recognise as revenue within one year.
No consideration from contracts with customers is
not included in the transaction price.

FREEWAREGRHNEREHZ

Significant changes in the balances of deferred

T income during the year are shown below:
R FE 5 5B E WA GG RIBIEE Decrease due to (139,025) (204,156)
AR AWA TR recognition as revenue

during the year that was
included in the balances
of deferred income at
beginning of year

Increase due to advance 265,952 139,180
payments received during
the year

X B TR (S FRIR TS A0

14. ESTEFEHE

hAEHEREEAMAARENERER T This represents the estimated liability for employees’

BEFBREHWREENRINENKETEE annual leave and obligations on contract-end gratuities

(RMIEE2(j)) ° payable to contract staff for services rendered up to the
reporting date (see note 2(j)).

14. Provision for employee benefits

15. S BEBEBEF
HABRE SRR IIRE -

15. Trading fund capital

This represents the Government’s investment in the Fund.

BEE | MERR
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LA T A (2 B B AR EIR BRI S -
TRE B RIEMBENTE -

F R FHRHERR

17. (REZF

FHEER
FERZE (BR) K

FHHIERR

1R2024F7H » BT RTEBMBE2023F
SE3IALFENBRER (RMET)

HEBEHA—MREA - 1R2024F38318 -
EEEETAE T688.8BBIMRERET
MBS R EBERIGEAT - TR REAER
BE2024F3A31HILFEEBREIREEE
% 2R B PR SR B B B A B FE 2R T BT RO
TME > BEEEETRAREBERER
Rig (EEREEH) F6iF - BIERIERA
REBREDNE - EERESHEWIIBAH
1R R AT AR RUA

FRZEROHN  SEESTERH
2,060 3BBTHEREEN (2023%F :
2,060.38#87T) « UFREFEHBES A
BOREIRE (RMEE21) -

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

16. Development reserve

This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to meet
the target return as well as to reduce the need for future
fee increases.

2024 2023

Balance at beginning and 690,165 690,165
end of year

17. Retained earnings

2024 2023

Balance at beginning of year 86,002 80,845
Total comprehensive (loss)/ (14,993) 5,157
income for the year

Balance at end of year 71,009 86,002

In July 2024, the Government indicated that no transfer
of target return (see note 7) into general revenue was
required in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023.
As at 31 March 2024, the Fund had set aside retained
earnings of HK$6,888,000, being the calculated amount
of target return for the year ended 31 March 2024, for
future transfer to the Government. The actual amount and
timing of future transfer will be subject to the direction
by the Government. While the target return is entrusted
to be retained in the Fund, it will become payable to the
Government upon receiving direction from the Government
and is not subject to the Fund’s disposal pursuant to section
6 of the Trading Funds Ordinance.

Apart from the target return, the Fund had also set aside
retained earnings of HK$20,603,000 (2023: HK$20,603,000)
for restitution of excessive licence fees paid by licensees
(see note 21).
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18. RERFRIINE 18. Cash and cash equivalents
He RIBITHER Cash and bank balances 5,072 2,846
RITER Bank deposits 702,300 500,700
707,372 503,546
B BEEHRA=EA MU EHERITER Less: Bank deposits with (698,600)  (497,000)
original maturities
over three months
HEEERRS Cash and cash equivalents 8,772 6,546
19. EXRFEE R HthEE 19. Capital commitments and other commitments
R2024%F3H31H € EEESHAEEMFH As at 31 March 2024, the Fund had capital commitments,
RRPEHEBRBERAENT - so far as not provided for in the financial statements,

as stated below:

2024 2023

BEFENEEN Authorised and 14,428 8,935
contracted for
B EE N RN Authorised but not 20 —
contracted for
14,448 8,935
EHBEHERT (—EXRHT) R2012F To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
11BZIEBEREMEETHESEN MER telecommunications service providers and their
BERRFE L (FHE) - UEEBRARE customers by means of mediation, a voluntary Customer
HH o HERARAENREEHEGEERR Complaint Settlement Scheme (the scheme) was set up in
ZEBABRINFIRREE - REMR20205F November 2012 and administered by the Communications
630 BETHERE SR EEESER Association of Hong Kong, the industry association.
HEFARERBIS0BETHRERR - LUH By a Memorandum of Understanding amended on 30 June
STEIREDEE - £ > EEESMAFTEIRT 2020, the Fund will provide recurrent funding for the long
21.98 %7t (2023%F : £) ° term operation of the scheme in the amount not exceeding

HK$1,500,000 per annum. During the year, the Fund had
contributed HK$219,000 (2023: nil) to the scheme.

BEE | MERR
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20. FREA LB B

REEMBREASFRENX 75 - LR
BATEAFEETHHEMEERZRE

T

(a) MEAZEALIRHNRFEEERELL6L6
BA7t (2023%F : 2,775.8&8 A7) WA
M REIRFEHIWE - LUIRAR(ELS22.6
EA (20234 1 1,524.88 %) WA

RISECHRERFBZHINE

(b) EREATRENRBEERIEMT
X%~ REMMEE  EZRER - PRE
BMENZE - EEEEME LR
#351H2,685.98 7T (20234 : 3,251.2

BB7T) UK

(c) MEZEALRBSHME  RiEKREHT -
BEER - SEEEEEREI2.8R

AT (20234 : 166.98E7T) °

HRE A TR M R REA TR HAARES -
EBTRAARER - AEAREGHNE
FWE ; NZRBREEEATRM - AR
EEMARE - HEEALHENEEEE

BEMARE o

20243831 H EREA LR ZRIRERE

HNMBIRRRA ©

Financial Statements
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(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated,)

20. Related party transactions

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial
statements, the other material related party transactions for

the year are summarised as follows:

(a) fees income for services provided to related parties
included advisory and project services amounting to
HK$11,616,000 (2023: HK$27,758,000) and frequency
assignment and protection services amounting to

HK$15,226,000 (2023: HK$15,248,000);

(b) expenses for services received from related parties
included accommodation, repairs and maintenance,
legal advice, central administration and auditing.
In total, the Fund incurred HK$26,859,000 (2023:

HK$32,512,000) on these services; and

(c) property, plant and equipment acquired from related
parties included motor vehicles. The total amount
of these fixed assets amounted to HK$328,000

(2023: HK$1,669,000).

Services provided by or to related parties were charged

at the rates payable by the general public where such
services were also available to members of the public,
or on a full cost recovery basis where such services were

only available to related parties. Fixed assets supplied by

related parties were charged at full cost.

Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2024 are set

out in the statement of financial position.
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For any outstanding litigation cases filed with the court
by licensees claiming for restitution of excessive licence
fees paid by them, the Government intends to vigorously
contest these claims and will be responsible for claims
for those amounts related to notional profits tax and
dividends which have been paid to the Government
by the Fund. In October 2018, the Government and
the CA decided that out of the retained earnings of
the Fund as at 31 March 2018, HK$82,959,000, being
the total amount of notional profits tax and dividend
retained in the Fund after deduction of target returns
required by the Government, would be set aside
for refund of licence fees to the licensees, pending
resolution of the claims for restitution. The Fund
considers that, based on the legal advice obtained,
the overall financial effect of the claims cannot be
estimated reliably.

The remaining balance of retained earnings set
aside for restitution claims as at 31 March 2024 was
HK$20,603,000 (2023: HK$20,603,000).
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22. Financial risk management

(a)

(c)

Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus cash
is invested in a portfolio of financial instruments.
The portfolio includes fixed deposits and placement
with the Exchange Fund. It is the Fund’s policy that
all investments in financial instruments should be
principal-protected.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to
currency risk as substantially all of its financial
instruments are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss.

The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
placement with the Exchange Fund, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties,
interest receivables, bank deposits and bank
balances. The Fund has a credit policy in place and
the exposure to these credit risks is monitored on
an ongoing basis.
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22. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Creditrisk (continued)
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To minimise credit risks, all fixed deposits are placed
with licensed banks in Hong Kong. The Fund’s
exposure to credit risk is considered to be limited. The
loss allowances are measured at amounts equal to
12-month expected credit losses, which are assessed
to be immaterial by the Fund.

The credit quality of bank deposits and bank balances,
analysed by the ratings designated by Moody’s or their
equivalent, is shown below:

2024 2023

Credit rating:
AaltoAa3 316,071 209,545
Al1to A3 367,600 111,300
BaaltoBaa3 23,700 182,700

Total 707,371 503,545

While other financial assets are subject to the
impairment requirements, the Fund has estimated that
their expected credit losses are minimal and considers
that no loss allowance is required.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial
assets of the Fund at the reporting date is equal to their
carrying amounts.
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22. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

(e)

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting
the amount of cash required and monitoring the
working capital of the Fund to ensure that all
liabilities due and known funding requirements
could be met. As the Fund has a strong liquidity
position, it has a very low level of liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. This can be
further classified into fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Since all
of the Fund’s bank deposits bear interest at fixed rates,
their fair values will fall when market interest rates
increase. However, as they are all stated at amortised
cost, changes in market interest rates will not affect
their carrying amounts and the Fund'’s profit/loss for
the year.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Fund’s exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk is small as it has no major
floating-rate investments.
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22. Financial risk management (continued)

(f)

(g)

Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from
changes in the interest rate on the placement with the
Exchange Fund which is determined every January
(note 11). As at 31 March 2024, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the loss for the year by
HK$2,554,000 (2023: increased/decreased the profit
for the year by HK$3,010,000).

Fair value
All financial instruments are stated in the statement of

financial position at amounts equal to or not materially
different from their fair values.
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23. BEEHRENREE20245F3A4 23. Possible impact of amendments, new
SIHLFERKREMBOE standards and interpretations issued
5] - MERNREZEN A B but not yet effective for the year ended
e 31 March 2024
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Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements. These
include the following which may be relevant to the Fund.

RUT BAAs 2 RFAE E S R

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

EBMTERERED F185E MBFFEMRIIR
FMIFEE

LEEESEMZFME  FEIRERE
BEXREMABEREEENREET
it EEBAIAL  EEASRTBHNER
RIRMZEFES] ~ TERRZBBAKRARE
ENMBREEBRERTLE -

2027F181H
1 January 2027

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment of the
expected impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpretations in the period of initial application. So far it
has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the financial statements.
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Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

(#Z=2024%3H31H) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024)
*E Chairman
BEERE Mr Esmond CHIU
BAEEEERNAEENEFIRE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
s Secretary
BIRZRE Mr Sidney TSAN
BAREHREERNAEHIEEE RE) Assistant Director (Regulatory), OFCA
£8 Members
fafiEkE Mr Michael KAN Kin Hang
HEEZEEAR Representative of Consumer Council
FREhEIE L - TI2ED Ir Dr Philip CHAN Kan Ip
ERAIEMBEAR Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
FE{-RE MrBenlLI
TRERMEZ2EEESERR Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
BERERE Mr Alex WONG
SFHEBMEREAR Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
FRGRE Mr Francis FONG
FARAEAREEEAR Representative of Hong Kong Information Technology Federation
BRELRE Mr Tony TSANG Ka Po
I EBERERATRE Representative of VNET Group Limited
EMEL+ Ms Karen MO
FEBSHERBRATNR Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
RENXEE Mr Karson NG
PEEEREEGRARMNE Representative of China Telecom Global Limited
REFNTLT Ms Sarah ZHANG Cuiping
FEEGE (F8) EEFRATFENREK Representative of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Operations Limited
EEREE Mr Dickson IP Hon Chung
EEEE (B8 BRAENRR Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited
2k E Mr LAW Jia
2 ZEMEEBERATRE Representative of Easy Tone Network Limited
Miss Xen LIM Miss Xen LIM
Equinix Hong Kong Limited {3 Representative of Equinix Hong Kong Limited
EHfmit Ms Sophia YAP

ERRAMBERAR EERBELESRBRIR B
RECEAREBERATAER

Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited/HKBN Enterprise
Solutions Limited/HKBN Enterprise Solutions HK Limited

FRIEXRE Mr Raymond CHAN
ERAERERERLATRE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited
REXRE Mr Kevin CHU

Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited / &&&E5EG IR
/A B B Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /&
BRIBIRER (F%8) AR, Genius Brand Limited {3

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/PCCW-
HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/
PCCW Global (HK) Limited/Genius Brand Limited
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Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs

Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024) (continued)

BEHELZT Ms Juliana WONG Yuk Hing

MR BEERATNR Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited
EPEE/NE Miss Katherine KWOK

BREEENEEATMRE Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited
SWwEE Mr Patrick NG

NTT Com Asia Limited {3 Representative of NTT Com Asia Limited

MXfGRE Mr OR Tin Lun

SmarTone Communications Limited /& E@E BN EEAT R

Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited/SmarTone Mobile
Communications Limited

EEEERE Mr Walter NGAN Hing Wah

ZREBEENEREERATEARER Representative of Towngas Telecommunications Fixed Network Limited
fAEERE Mr Terence HO Chi Kai

TraxComm Limited X3 Representative of TraxComm Limited

Bzt Ms Clio IP

MM EFZERATMNR Representative of Village Telephone Limited

tiBELRE Mr HU Haining

Vodafone Enterprise Hong Kong Limited {{3& Representative of Vodafone Enterprise Hong Kong Limited

BAFRERE Mr Julian CHOW

FEEEE (HAEERY) HEERINAR Representative of Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services) Licensees as a group
REFLL Ms Sarah ZHANG Cuiping

M E RS ENE R R Representative of Mobile Virtual Network Operators (MVNQOSs) as a group
RRERE Mr YUEN Chung Ho

ARFS < e R B R pE R R R Representative of Services-based Operators (SBO) Licensees as a group
HERKE MrTY HUI

e SR EERY, WEEEGEEARR (A, AHE
REENRE, BRI ERRSEERNRR

Representative of Localised Wireless Broadband Service/Localised Wireless
Broadband System (Private)/Public Radiocommunications Service/Wireless
Internet of Things Licensees as a group

BEFETIZE Ir TANG Chi Wah

EREBERAR Representative of Hong Kong Police Force
FEEEL Dr Justin CHUANG

BRZEEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
ELE e g Ms Katy LAU

BRZFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
KEEEL Dr Patrick TSIE Kai Yiu

ERZFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
SRFAIRIIR Prof Angela ZHANG Yingjun

ERIEEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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eI LR RIS EENEET Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards
(8%F202453H831A8) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024)
*fE Chairman
FER P Mr TS CHEW
BAREHBEEENAEIIEMEE (1T Assistant Director (Operations), OFCA
s Secretary
BREMRSEE Mr Ivan CHAN
BERETERNAESREMNIIZM (BMEE) Senior Telecommunications Engineer (Standards), OFCA
£8 Members
RERSESRE Mr Jan CHEUNG Kai Yiu
HEEZEEAX Representative of Consumer Council
Z=(hERkE Mr Michael LEE
BB REARMEREE (BRE) KX Representative of EU ICT Council in Hong Kong and Macau
AEXSRE Mr Herman CHOW
EREENRERNKR Representative of Hong Kong Productivity Council
FREFATIZEM Ir John CHAN Kwan Wing
FRIEMBEAR Representative of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
BRIEEt Dr KF TSANG
TRERMEZ2EEASERAR Representative of The Institution of Engineering and Technology Hong Kong
fAR=RE Mr HO Kai Leung
A BAEREBANKR Representative of Local Industry Associations
HBRELE Mr Tony TSANG Ka Po
HiREMEBRBRATRE Representative of VNET Group Limited
HMERSE Mr Frank XIE
FERESHEBERARARE Representative of China Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited
A¥R%E Mr Samuel CHAU Ip Sing
FBEHE (F8) BRARRE Representative of ComNet Telecom (HK) Limited
ERBRE Mr Danny LI
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Representative of Hong Kong Broadband Network Limited/HKBN
Enterprise Solutions Limited/HKBN Enterprise Solutions HK Limited
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Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /& # %QEEBE
‘AT K Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited /&1

RIRERER (F#8) BRAE,Genius Brand Limited X%

Mr Sheldon YAU Siu Lun

Representative of Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/PCCW-
HKT Telephone Limited and Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited/
PCCW Global (HK) Limited/Genius Brand Limited

BER%E Mr LAU Tak Man

MEEBFEERATHR Representative of Hutchison Telephone Company Limited
WEEREE Mr Voller LAM

BREREEEBENARATARE Representative of HGC Global Communications Limited
ZIFI#EE Mr Dennis LAU Yu Hung

SmarTone Communications Limited /& @ B G R ATKR

Representative of SmarTone Communications Limited/SmarTone Mobile
Communications Limited

Eigskit Ms Alice AU

FREAMBER@RBNEEEIFEERIRR Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed
Services as a group

RENXEE Mr Karson NG

FREAMMBEBERERFVEREFEERINACE Representative of Carrier Licensees NOT Providing Domestic Retail Fixed

Services as a group
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Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards

Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024) (continued)

BRIE ek Mr Raymond CHAN

EREREREGRAE FUEREELTNRE Representative of Hong Kong Cable Television Limited/Fantastic Television Limited
REBEE Mr Carlson CHU

BHBRFHERERAE EABRIREERATAR Representative of PCCW Media Limited/HK Television Entertainment Limited
HESRE Mr Garry KUM

EREBEERARNE Representative of Television Broadcasts Limited

HEREE Mr Paul LAM CK

EABMEEBERATIRR Representative of Hong Kong Commercial Broadcasting Company Limited
=/NERSEE Mr KO Siu Ming

FREREERATMRR Representative of Metro Broadcast Corporation Limited

KEELLT Ms CHU Chung Kwan

EBEARE Representative of Radio Television Hong Kong

PR E Mr CHEN Xun

DABEHEGRATENRE Representative of APT Satellite Company Limited

RFEEL Dr ZHANG Rui

DMNEERRABNKR Representative of Asia Satellite Telecommunications Company

LEHRE Mr HUNG Hing Chu

FREEXE (WAEERS) SEERIAX

Representative of Unified Carrier (External Fixed Services) Licensees as
agroup

FESEE
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HOEARBEME) AR

Mr LAU Kin Ho
Representative of Services-based Operators (MVNO and ETS Operators only)
Licensees as a group
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MrTY HUI
Representative of Localised Wireless Broadband Service/Public Radiocommunications

BRIEERRMAR Service/Wireless Internet of Things Licensees as a group
FeREL Dr LEE Kam Chuen

A HIEREE RS AR Representative of Local Certification Bodies as a group
SR E Mr Johnny SIU Choi Pai

HEREBEERANER Representative of Amateur Radio Societies as a group
ZIREREE Mr LAU Kin Hei

BEMERR Representative of Civil Aviation Department
WmEERE Mr SHIU Wai Kay

EREHEREAR Representative of Hong Kong Police Force

REZXE Mr Henry CHAN Hing Wan

BERABRE Representative of Independent Commission Against Corruption
BRAE L Mr CHAN Shing Pun

ERZEFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

RamEug Prof DAI Lin

BRZEFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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BARBAR R EBERAERT

Telecommunications Users and Consumers

(#=2024%3H831H) Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024)
xE Chairman
BEERE . ) Mr Esmond CHIU
BAEEEERHAEENEFAEE (BH) Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA
s Secretary
BERTL Ms Jamay WONG
BNEHEERNAEHEEEFTE Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA
%8 Members
AIFEE L Mr Francis HO Ying Foo
HEEZEEAR Representative of Consumer Council
ERESE Mr Ricky CHONG
EFHEBMEREAR Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong
FRERkE Mr Fred SHEU
EaEEeRE Representative of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
EHERE Mr Keith LI
EFEEGEEEEAR Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association
RamtE Mr Michael LAl Cheuk Pun
RNBI R ERR Representatives of Small and Medium Enterprises
EEREE Mr Henry LIN Ting Kit
BERRER Representative of Education Bureau
wmRRkE Mr Alex YEUNG Chi Chi
EERBERE Representative of the Aged Community
SEEERSEE Mr CHUNG Chi Ming
BHEA LR Representative of the Disabled Community
EBBEESRE Mr Tsan SIU Yat Chan
BHEATARER Representative of the Disabled Community
BREEMRTE Mr CHAN Kin Lun
NS YN Representative as a Member of the Public*
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BARSBAR R EBEERAESE

Telecommunications Users and Consumers
(8=202443H31H) (&)

Advisory Committee (as at 31 March 2024) (continued)

FRim ezt Ms CHAN Pui Yi

DBRALTRE Representative as a Member of the Public
BEEL Ms CHENG Wai Kwan

DBRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
REEL L Ms Peony CHEUNG Hoi Ching
NBRATHREK Representative as a Member of the Public*
FFIESRE Mr HUI Lap Tak

RNBATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
AEBERE Mr HUNG Hin Ching

DNBRALTRE Representative as a Member of the Public
BETIsAkE Mr Brian KUNG Yin Ming

NBRATHRE Representative as a Member of the Public
MEHALE Ms Natalie KWOK Kavin

DBRATRE Representative as a Member of the Public
2IE2{Z1E+ - MH Dr Eric LAU Kin Wai, MH

DBRALTRE Representative as a Member of the Public
2Imict Ms Katy LAU

NBRATHRE Representative as a Member of the Public
BIrEkE Mr Richard TSANG Lap Ki

DNBRALTRE Representative as a Member of the Public
KEFLL Ms Avon YUE Nga Fong

DBRALTRE Representative as a Member of the Public
ERMIEE  MH > JP Mr LAU Ka Keung, MH, JP

EREEAT Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
HEEELT Dr TANG Kin Wa

BRZEFEAL Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

EBBEEEEEIEERE

* Appointed through the Member Self-recommendation Scheme for Youth
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Performance Pledge

Appendix C

762023 /245 » BMTERHSABRBIEES
BHRERREE - 2024/ 25E ENEARBRR
EHERFIT -

In 2023/24, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets
in our 54 job areas. The full list of our performance targets
for 2024/25 are also set out in the table below.

BIREHNRB K FEREE LRIERHRERRE
TCHERNITFERE - TERELERRER - ZfIRS
BRRFEETIL Y TR IR -

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent
by exceptional circumstances and workloads during peak
periods. The following table takes these factors into account
and sets out the standard service delivery times we aim to
achieve for a wide range of services.

A% 2023,/ 245 2023 245 ERBFRREE 2023 245E 2024,/ 25 EAZHE RIZASR

Services IRAE R IR AR (GERRBBIZENT S E) BRF9RHERIR (IERARRFERRBIE)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
for 2023/24 standard) for 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25

RIZE BRI IR RS

Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications

JEAIth IR B RS,
H {th A58k ETREN B AR5

Non-domestic Television Programme
Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

RIBEMRISERREE 25

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations

onts 100% 100% s (100%)

BERIGEREER

Mobile Radio System Licence

AR EN

Establishment of a new system

3

[ENR(S

working days

98%

100%

38 e (98%)

B MREMES

Relocation/Addition of base station

3

(RS
working days

98%

100%

32 e (98%)

&%

Addition of mobile station

HWLtE

L For statlons of taxis

HtE

L For other stations

BEIfER

working days

BIfEXR

working days

99%
99%

100%
100%

5 e (99%)
8990

EREHELEM

Replacement of mobile station equipment

)

For stations of taxis

HthES

For other stations

BIEX
working days

BIEX

working days

99%
99%

100%
100%

S (99%)
8 iraears (99%)

BMEMELEM

Replacement of base station equipment o%({iﬁgiiays 9 9% 100% Ecﬁ(ﬁgasiays (9 9(y )
R BIfER

Issue of licence

working days

99%

100%

8 errziar (99%)
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BR#5

Services

2023245 2023245 ERBRFRIE
IR R IR (ERRBIFENERF)
Service Delivery Performance Target
Standard (% meeting service

for 2023/24 standard) for 2023/24

REREARBHRRE E5K (1§)

2023, 245
BERTYRBERR

Actual Average
Performance in
2023/24

2024,/ 25F 1B RIZHRY
(FERAAERBRREEE)
Service Delivery Standard

(Performance Target) for
2024/25

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations (continued)

EREEER

EIER

99%

100%

EIER

(99%)

Radio Dealers Licence working days working days
I H2RESE 5
b e g BIgx 99% 100% TR (99%)
Electronic Machines Licence
%ﬁ%ﬂiﬂﬁ%~%%&ﬁﬁw
ERRER 0
Ra:;o Determination and Conveyance of Eﬁfﬁggaﬁ 9 9% 100% ﬁ)ﬁ{iﬁgays (9 9 /o )
Commands, Status and Data Licence
BEEREAXREE
Satellite Master Antenna Television
Licence
5B 0, 0
o iﬁei'va a?)plication 1 Eoﬁﬁgagays 98 /0 100 /0 1 1v%]oﬁjilr'fgiiays (98%)
® &=
B 11 o 98% 100% 11 i (98%)
L [P ~Y
Ship S?aﬁc,f E‘?cence Ejoﬁ({iﬁgagays 9 9% 100% ﬁ){k{iﬁ;ays (99%)
T L
Aemateur Svaion Licence 99% 100% e (99%)
BRHNEMRGIE :
?:::a;:'gr?l‘glﬁgclza):itgmaslystem Licence 2 Eﬁ{iﬁ;ays 9 9% ﬁoﬁnﬁ@i 2 ﬁﬁ({iﬁ;ays (99%)
BB E Mm% R
Services-based Operators Licence
ElIEHERE
Response to new application
— 3R B AR
1 ?ass’; & (Sﬁss gs}iErvTce(s) 1 i%]ci{iﬁgigays 98% 100% 1 1vl?oﬁ{ilr'fg,?%ays (98%)
o ?ziffsﬂgf\% ce(s) 1 3 Eoﬁﬁgasiays 9 9% 100% 13 {vl?oﬁ{i,rfg%‘lays (9 9%)
i ShR AR
ipﬁ%&?ﬁfﬁ%isue of licence 1n@o}anths 98% 100% Eoﬁnths (98%)
FeExENE
Unified Carrier Licence
==
Eﬁfﬁf ;c? new application E&E{iﬁgﬁays 98% 100% E)ﬁ(ﬁg%iays (98%)
RHEEREBNARFSRE
Public Radiocommunications
Service Licence
T f“
IRielzﬁonsqeﬂ tc? new application \{/lvﬂo_ll‘—_lji’rfgaiiays 98% I\Toﬁnfﬁwﬂtﬂii {Eoﬁ(ﬁgjays (98%)
S IR 5 5
Approval for issue of licence Eo?ths 98% ﬁoﬁfﬁvjl?fe oHnths (98%)
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Appendix C

RFE 2023245
RS R IRRSE
Service Delivery
Standard

for 2023/24

2023 24FERBRINAE 2023 24FE
(EZIRFIRENT I E) BERTIRBERE
Performance Target Actual Average
(% meeting service Performance in
standard) for 2023/24 2023/24

2024,/ 25 EIZE RIBRSRY
(ERABERERFBE
Service Delivery Standard
(Performance Target) for
2024/25

Services

RIBEARBSEERRE B (1))

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications/Registrations (continued)

Wireless Internet of Things Licence
£ p
Eﬁfﬁf ’sc? new application \Eﬁﬁgﬁa% 98% ﬁoﬁnﬁvﬂ?i {Eoﬁ(ﬁ;avs (98%)
%Eﬁ%fﬁi%?iue of licence 1rlnilo}?lths 98% ﬁoﬁnfﬁﬁi {rEoEnths (98%)
mMERES (EA)
et Seston fcence e 98% 100% | 5 &R s (98%)
fmbe T 5
E?tffd?a% ﬁﬁﬁi\? Sﬁfi?)n Licence 1 5 Eﬁﬁ;ays 9 8 % r\ﬁl%oﬁnfﬁw1 l?fe {ﬁﬁ(ﬁ;ays ( 98 %)
BIEER (3:3X) R
Hotel Television (Transmission) Licence
==
o Applicatin 15 8505 98% 100% | 1585 (98%)
I{Eﬁwal 1 1 ilvﬂﬁ{iﬁgagays 98% 100% 1 1 ﬁﬁ({iﬁ;&iays (98%)
ERMENRFSERN R — &5
ClassLicenceforOfferof | JABLER 99% 100% | 1485 (99%)
Telecommunications Services - Registration
PR H AR [ SR AR 75 2R A1 ke B
_ue US| 9% | 100% | 1485, (99%)
Class Licence for Provision of Public Wireless working days 0 Y working days 0

Local Area Network Services - Registration

AR AOFFAEE

Import and Export Permit

RIEBUIRER S
it A FRCED B A
B UXRYHE
BAIREIEIMER

Immediately over

counter upon payment
by cash or EPS, or
3 working days by

98%

100%

RiERUREH S

W E T B0 B BE
BAMBIMEIEX 0,
Immediately over (98/0)
counter upon payment

by cash or EPS, or
3 working days by

chequesor PPS chequesor PPS
:’"tﬁ %
f’i:iﬁgﬁ’\ent Notification \E/\ﬂli‘tahmthe same day 98% 100% \El\unﬁmli?r?thesameday (98%)

RiE (BEE -

HEMEIMRERIRQW) RETVAERFZHH

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of
Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2B LBRNT 2 RRERS R

Global Maritime Distress and Safety
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

BIEX

working days

95%

100%

EIER

weirgems (95%)
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BR#5 202324 [E 2023/ 24FERERFEE 2023/ 24FE

Services 1R A R IRRTE (ETRRSIFENTDE) BRTFIORBERIR
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average
Standard (% meeting service Performance in
for 2023/24 standard) for 2023/24 2023/24

RiE (BRI - HBMEVHREEIRQKN) RRHASTREFZHREF (18)

2024,/ 25F IR R IZHRY
(ERABRFFRRER
Service Delivery Standard

(Performance Target) for
2024/25

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on Standards of

Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention) (continued)

B LEBNTERNFEER

SEEAER R BIfEX 0 0
GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent working days 95 /0 100/0

Competency and Endorsement

BRETERAE

Investigation of Radio Interference

endraears (95%)

SRR TIE E6ETERA gs@ﬁIEfﬁiEW

ik ; EITHEE 177

Interference on commercial services iFvc;Istigation within 9 6% 100% Investigation within (96%)
6 working days 6 working days

SRR i et

) Y EITRE 0 0 1TERE 0

Interference on broadcasting services ?;vestigation within 9 6 A) 100 /0 Investigation within (96 /0)
9 working days 9 working days

RIS, FEIS R

Processing of Applications for Numbers/Codes

IEERE ARG & 52 R ’

. C . BIfER BIEX
Assignment of telecommunications working days 90% 100% working days (90%)
numbers and codes

i - RIEMEZRENENMRE

Checking, processing and acceptance of 10 Eﬁﬁ%a s 100% 100%
return of telecommunications numbers g ay

10 Wdretars (100%)

REEMREHER (BB (HIBIEXX) G  CEHBEGD) - (BREAD) 35 1A S - EBRRGEMRN

I - AEBRBTUNEBSHIRSR

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms or
conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice

A Z g

f;u?jcﬂ?n in%rim reply ilflj({i’rﬁl;ays 98% 100% ﬁﬂﬁ;ays (98%)
FBERENEREMIZRA

i » Bl[mAxE = i =

Inform complainants of results of cases ﬁ%iﬂ 98% 100% ﬁ%@ (98%)

not involving an investigation (Note B)
(or report of progress to the complainant
if results of cases are not ready)

MEEETHERAENIRRE
WIS RAEMENEREER

GBER) BYER (B8) (%
HENRMR - BIFIRHRA
BEEE) o 98% 98.8%
Inform complainants of the
Communications Authority (CA)'s
decision on complaints involving a
straightforward investigation (Note B)
(or report of progress to the complainant
if CA's decision is not ready)

e (98%)
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AR5 2023245 2023 24FERBRREE 2023/ 245FE 2024,/ 25 EAEAE [RIRRSRY

Services RS R IRRTE (EIRBFIZENTRE) BETYERERR  (ERABERBRREE)
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
for 2023/24 standard) for 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25

REERMERER (BRE (HIEMESD) EH) « (EBREAD) « (BHREGD SBINASE « EEERERN
it - AEBEBTFUNERFEIRF (8)

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications Ordinance, the terms or
conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice (continued)

BB T RAEIRRE
%R A B ERSHIE R (28)
(SR BRRARR + AE
REANSER) E)E] 0, 0 {(E)] 0,
Inform complainants of CA’s months 98/0 100/0 months (98/0)
decision on complaints involving
a complex investigation (Note B)
(or report of progress to the
complainant if CA’s decision is
not ready)

%;EEE;??H%%%T%&%E (BHIEA) NEARBERIZHCEEERR (FF (BFHIEA) F7QME

Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators (except for complaints relating to
Section 7Q of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the Telecommunications
Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

FHIEIE AR A (SNANKAESHHE
EE - MG FNSEE)

Full reply to complainant (or interim
reply if full reply is not ready)

RIEFL (BAEGI) SB7QiREE L NEA R B EME(FL MR

BREHER

No new case

2 BIER

working days

27 s (90%)

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Operators relating to Section 7Q of the Telecommunications Ordinance

HHMEIEEN (HAKREEEH
W|th|n

EIE - Mg FHL EE) within
Forlenf(1fui|:'i:s,lissue full r((ejpl)y (or interim 14 Eﬁﬁ;?ys 90% 100% ﬁ)ﬁ(ﬁgﬁ@s (90(y)
reply if full reply is not ready

%ﬂ@%&%ﬁ;;ﬁ?*ﬁ#ﬁ . Wit

EIE - Mg FNTEE 2R 0 BETER B 0,
For complaints, issue full reply (NoteB) (or 12 weeks 90 /0 No new case 1 2 weeks ( 90 A))
interim reply if full reply is not ready)

RIERAMEMRIREEER (BRGH) NENRBERIFHFRFIREHE GIF (BREG) B7QIRRYIZERIEN)

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Section 7Q of the

Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence
Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

EAMREE (UIERA - i
HE > BIMIRRARSEE @R REHER ' '"ﬁmaew
Completion of full investigation (or 45 working days 90% No new case W°rk'"gdays (9O(y)

report of progress to the complainant if
full investigation is not completed)
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BR#5 2023245 2023 24FERBRFABIE 2023/ 245FE 2024,/ 25 B A [RIRRSRY

Serafane 1EHE R IRRTE (EIRFIZENTRE) BETHRERR  (ERABERBRREE
Service Delivery Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
for 2023/24 standard) for 2023/24 2023/24 2024/25

REAHEEREMRBIFR/AMERER (AaRAGEN) NAFE/EXNERRIZH

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licensees on Suspected

Contravention of the Fair Trading Sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance

BB E T (jg*) e Within Within
EIE - AT IS EE 1
BTERA 0, 0 1II1’E9€|79 0,

For enquiries, issue full reply (or interim working days 90 /0 100 /0 workmg days (90 / )
reply if full reply is not ready)
MKBEREFRHERER - Al | Joaa e
;QEEA?&H:”;E}E@E@*H Within 900/ 1000/ Within (90(y)
For complaints, issue case progress to | 3monthsupon 0 0 3months upon 0
the complainant if the case result is acknowledgement acknowledgement
not ready of receipt of the of receipt of the

complaint complaint

REEHEEREARAXRFERIERER (RFREH) NERRIH

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Undertakings in the Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Sectors on Suspected Contravention of the Competition Ordinance

HHEEE (SANKREEFHE Wit Within
E%E > AiEFNSERE) 14 EItEER BIIERR

For enquiries, issue full reply (or working days 90% 100% 1 working days (90%)

interim reply if full reply is not

ready)
e e | Wm
T o ithin ithin
For complaints, issue full reply Notesr | 28 ERiFEA, 920% 100% 28 s (90%)

(or interim reply if full reply is not ready)

RIEERIERER (JEEAEFHRMGEH) NBEHK

Handling of Reports on the Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance

e s
ke LEE Within W|th|n
Completion of full investigation (or report 1 ﬁ%ﬁsﬁ P 90% 100% wflng (90%)

of progress to the complainant if full
investigation is not completed)

HAMBEMMRBNRREHNRILGRELEE

Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA's Services

HMAEESN (SHREEIRHEA N
EE Euﬁa%mﬁxg) Within Within

BTEXRA 0, 0, ﬂﬁI{’E%W 0,
Full reply for enquiries (or interim reply working days 90 /0 100 /0 worklng days (90/)
if full reply cannot be provided)

IR (SKANRSEREHE
AE RIS AREER) Within W'th'n

Full reply for complaints (or report 15 ﬁjﬁﬁ;@s 90% 100% ﬁﬂﬁgﬁgs (900/)
of progress to the complainant if full

investigation is not completed)

SEAMBRMPFATENRMEFE—SRE - BAMNGRENTHE

Note A OFCA will issue a letter to the applicant if its application can be referred to the Civil Aviation Department for further processing.

5IB HUREIREF AFTIR it R SO B KHEST -

Note B Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.
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Licences Issued and Renewed

% EMNEERES
MR E R B ORR B

(BE2024F3A831HFER)

RERTERE

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences
Issued/Renewed and Revenue Collected
(For the year ended 31 March 2024)

he RhREE

No. of Licences
Issued/Renewed

Type of Licences

EIERER

R WEBIREERE
FEAMBIREN B IRFS

H /A B8 B AR
BEERE

BRIE, IR B
MEEREEEEES
fnzEsEa
FEMBIEIRIERA
EREL

EIRERERE

FHEEREER

EFMEREE

BRES

B, HNE RS
BIEETR (BX)

AO/ BOFFAIE

IX - RERBEETHEM

BEERERANAEABHERERNR

mEniRTE
TLAREREEITRR
NHEEIREERTS
BIRED (WERH)
ERERAER
EREAEURES
BESRAEAXIE
BRHENENRR
ARFS S — S RS
AR 5 = SRS

i

TR ERE

T EREBAARTS
PSRRI EE S
EARYIBE, R M IR B IEARS

BNE | Mz

© IRRER B EX

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free/Pay Television Programme Service

Non-domestic Television Programme Service 9
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 21
Sound Broadcasting 2

Telecommunications Licences/Permits/Certificates

Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 35
Aircraft Station 311
Amateur ATO 802
Amateur Station 2,649
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 12
Duplicate Licence 198
Examination & Issue of Certificate 1,230
Experimental Station 69
Fixed Internal/External Services 51
Hotel Television (Transmission) 172
Import/Export Permit 508
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 2,279
Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile Radio System 3,127
Mobile Services 8
Private Radio Paging System 3
Public Radiocommunications Service 6
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 4,492
Radiocommunications School 7

Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, Status and Data 172

Satellite Master Antenna Television 62
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 8
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 23
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 165
Ship Station 4,575
Space Station Carrier 10
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 12
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 44
Wireless Internet of Things/Localised Wireless Broadband Service 5
Total 21,071

27,329,284
525,490
676,000

10,316,188

51,000
51,462
128,320
396,025
8,750
10,890
219,990
20,150
106,089,214
688,313
76,200
196,487
29,050,444
188,715,099
4,250
1,014,327
6,459,000
2,150
183,124
4,357,162
8,687
1,564,232
20,401,187
699,412
1,725,000
312,863
109,200
700,383

402,090,283



( BAEKEERENAS
OFFICE OF THE
_— COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

BASEHEERMAE

Office of the Communications Authority

Husik Address : EABFERAKER2135HEKE291E

29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen’s Road East
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

EHHEE Enquiry Hotline: 2961 6333
#aut Website www.ofca.gov.hk
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